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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549
FORM 10-Q

     [Mark One]

þ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2010
OR

o TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from                      to                     
Commission File Number: 0-23999
MANHATTAN ASSOCIATES, INC.

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter)

Georgia
(State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation or

Organization)

58-2373424
(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

2300 Windy Ridge Parkway, Suite 1000
Atlanta, Georgia

(Address of Principal Executive Offices)

30339
(Zip Code)

Registrant�s Telephone Number, Including Area Code: (770) 955-7070
Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant
was required to file such reports) and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes þ No o
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if
any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulations S-T
(§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required
to submit and post such files). Yes o No o
Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer
or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of �large accelerated filer,� �accelerated filer� and �smaller reporting
company� in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer o Accelerated filer þ Non-accelerated filer o Smaller reporting
company o

(Do not check if a smaller
reporting company)

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).
Yes o No þ
The number of shares of the Registrant�s class of capital stock outstanding as of July 28, 2010, the latest practicable
date, is as follows: 22,074,740 shares of common stock, $0.01 par value per share.
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PART I
FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements.
MANHATTAN ASSOCIATES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

June 30,
December

31,
2010 2009

(unaudited)
ASSETS

Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 117,663 $ 120,217
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $6,379 and $4,943 in 2010 and 2009,
respectively 46,747 37,945
Deferred income taxes 5,793 5,745
Income taxes receivable 1,038 �
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 5,573 4,847

Total current assets 176,814 168,754

Property and equipment, net 14,951 15,759
Long-term investments 2,532 2,797
Goodwill, net 62,251 62,280
Acquisition-related intangible assets, net 2,196 3,473
Deferred income taxes 9,831 9,826
Other assets 2,165 1,822

Total assets $ 270,740 $ 264,711

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS� EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 7,747 $ 4,434
Accrued compensation and benefits 17,552 12,855
Accrued and other liabilities 15,094 15,430
Deferred revenue 38,632 37,436
Income taxes payable � 796

Total current liabilities 79,025 70,951

Other non-current liabilities 10,422 10,395

Shareholders� equity:
Preferred stock, no par value; 20,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued or
outstanding in 2010 or 2009 � �

222 225
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Common stock, $.01 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 22,167,568 and
22,467,123 shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2010 and December 31,
2009, respectively
Additional paid-in capital � 2,892
Retained earnings 183,412 182,387
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (2,341) (2,139)

Total shareholders� equity 181,293 183,365

Total liabilities and shareholders� equity $ 270,740 $ 264,711

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
3
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Item 1. Financial Statements (continued)
MANHATTAN ASSOCIATES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Three Months Ended June
30,

Six Months Ended June
30,

2010 2009 2010 2009
(unaudited) (unaudited)

Revenue:
Software license $ 15,485 $ 4,126 $ 29,692 $ 9,048
Services 54,780 49,422 108,241 100,265
Hardware and other 7,376 4,861 13,657 9,921

Total revenue 77,641 58,409 151,590 119,234

Costs and expenses:
Cost of license 1,611 1,035 3,160 2,459
Cost of services 24,906 21,319 48,970 44,476
Cost of hardware and other 6,205 4,177 11,274 8,298
Research and development 10,334 9,188 20,774 19,415
Sales and marketing 12,073 9,026 22,541 19,105
General and administrative 8,177 7,251 16,638 15,213
Depreciation and amortization 2,318 3,010 4,733 6,175
Restructuring charge � 3,829 � 3,892

Total costs and expenses 65,624 58,835 128,090 119,033

Operating income (loss) 12,017 (426) 23,500 201
Other income (expense), net 304 (404) (194) (637)

Income (loss) before income taxes 12,321 (830) 23,306 (436)
Income tax provision (benefit) 4,132 (274) 7,922 (142)

Net income (loss) $ 8,189 $ (556) $ 15,384 $ (294)

Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 0.38 $ (0.02) $ 0.70 $ (0.01)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 0.36 $ (0.02) $ 0.68 $ (0.01)

Weighted average number of shares:
Basic 21,718 22,391 21,837 22,687
Diluted 22,776 22,391 22,655 22,687

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
4
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Item 1. Financial Statements (continued)
MANHATTAN ASSOCIATES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Six Months Ended
2010 2009

(unaudited)
Operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ 15,384 $ (294)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization 4,733 6,175
Stock compensation 5,087 4,018
Loss on disposal of equipment (6) 12
Tax benefit (deficiency) of stock awards exercised/vested 1,237 (1,088)
Excess tax benefits from stock based compensation (342) (9)
Deferred income taxes (25) 386
Unrealized foreign currency loss 24 723
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net (9,299) 25,082
Other assets (1,122) 2,342
Accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities 8,285 (9,872)
Income taxes (1,837) (2,944)
Deferred revenue 1,743 (986)

Net cash provided by operating activities 23,862 23,545

Investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment (2,706) (1,360)
Net maturies of investments 98 80

Net cash used in investing activities (2,608) (1,280)

Financing activities:
Purchase of common stock (41,022) (20,540)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock from options exercised 17,445 544
Excess tax benefits from stock based compensation 342 9

Net cash used in financing activities (23,235) (19,987)

Foreign currency impact on cash (573) (49)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (2,554) 2,229
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 120,217 85,739
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Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 117,663 $ 87,968

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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MANHATTAN ASSOCIATES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2010
(unaudited)

1. Basis of Presentation
     The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of Manhattan Associates, Inc. and its
subsidiaries (the �Company�) have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Rule 10-01 of
Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required for complete financial
statements. In the opinion of management, these condensed consolidated financial statements contain all normal
recurring adjustments considered necessary for a fair presentation of the Company�s financial position at June 30,
2010, the results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 and cash flows for the six
months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009. The results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 are not
necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year. These statements should be read in conjunction
with the Company�s audited consolidated financial statements and management�s discussion and analysis included in
the Company�s annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009.
2. Principles of Consolidation
     The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements include the Company�s accounts and the accounts
of its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation.
3. Revenue Recognition
     The Company�s revenue consists of revenues from the licensing and hosting of software, fees from implementation
and training services (collectively, �professional services�), plus customer support and software enhancements, and sales
of hardware and other revenues (other revenues consists of reimbursements of out-of-pocket expenses incurred in
connection with its professional services). All revenue is recognized net of any related sales taxes.
     The Company recognizes license revenue when the following criteria are met: (1) a signed contract is obtained;
(2) delivery of the product has occurred; (3) the license fee is fixed or determinable; and (4) collection is probable.
Revenue recognition for software with multiple-element arrangements requires recognition of revenue using the
�residual method� when (a) there is vendor-specific objective evidence of the fair values of all undelivered elements in a
multiple-element arrangement that is not accounted for using long-term contract accounting; (b) vendor-specific
objective evidence of fair value does not exist for one or more of the delivered elements in the arrangement; and (c) all
other applicable revenue-recognition criteria for software revenue recognition, other than the requirement for
vendor-specific objective evidence of the fair value of each delivered element of the arrangement, are satisfied. For
those contracts that contain significant customization or modifications, license revenue is recognized using contract
accounting.
     The Company allocates revenue to customer support and software enhancements and any other undelivered
elements of the arrangement based on vendor specific objective evidence, or VSOE, of fair value of each element and
such amounts are deferred until the applicable delivery criteria and other revenue recognition criteria have been met.
The balance of the revenue, net of any discounts inherent in the arrangement, is recognized at the outset of the
arrangement using the residual method as the product licenses are delivered. If the Company cannot objectively
determine the fair value of each undelivered element based on the VSOE of fair value, the Company defers revenue
recognition until all elements are delivered, all services have been performed, or until fair value can be objectively
determined. The Company must apply judgment in determining all elements of the arrangement and in determining
the VSOE of fair value for each element, considering the price charged for each product on a stand-alone basis or
applicable renewal rates.
     The accounting related to license revenue recognition in the software industry is complex and affected by
interpretations of the rules which are subject to change. Judgment is required in assessing the probability of collection,
which is generally based on evaluation of customer-specific information, historical collection experience and
economic market conditions. If market conditions decline, or if the financial conditions of customers deteriorate, the
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Company may be unable to determine that collectibility is probable, and the Company could be required to defer the
recognition of revenue until the Company receives customer payments.
     The Company�s services revenue consists of fees generated from professional services and customer support and
software enhancements related to the Company�s software products. Fees from professional services performed by the
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MANHATTAN ASSOCIATES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

June 30, 2010
(unaudited)

Company are generally billed on an hourly basis, and revenue is recognized as the services are performed.
Professional services are sometimes rendered under agreements in which billings are limited to contractual maximums
or based upon a fixed-fee for portions of or all of the engagement. Revenue related to fixed-fee based contracts is
recognized on a proportional performance basis based on the hours incurred on discrete projects within an overall
services arrangement. Project losses are provided for in their entirety in the period in which they become known.
Revenue related to customer support services and software enhancement is generally paid in advance and recognized
ratably over the term of the agreement, typically 12 months.
     Hardware and other revenue is generated from the resale of a variety of hardware products, developed and
manufactured by third parties, that are integrated with and complementary to the Company�s software solutions. As
part of a complete solution, the Company�s customers periodically purchase hardware from the Company in
conjunction with the licensing of software. These products include computer hardware, radio frequency terminal
networks, radio frequency identification (RFID) chip readers, bar code printers and scanners and other peripherals.
Hardware revenue is recognized upon shipment to the customer when title passes. The Company generally purchases
hardware from the Company�s vendors only after receiving an order from a customer. As a result, the Company does
not maintain significant hardware inventory.
     In accordance with the other presentation matters within the Revenue Recognition Topic of the Financial
Accounting Standards Board�s (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification, the Company recognizes amounts
associated with reimbursements from customers for out-of-pocket expenses as revenue. Such amounts have been
classified as hardware and other revenue. The total amount of expense reimbursement recorded to revenue was
$2.3 million and $4.1 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010, respectively, and $1.9 million and
$3.8 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively.
4. Investments
     The Company measures its investments based on a fair value hierarchy disclosure framework that prioritizes and
ranks the level of market price observability used in measuring assets and liabilities at fair value. Market price
observability is impacted by a number of factors, including the type of asset or liability and their characteristics. This
hierarchy prioritizes the inputs into three broad levels as follows:

� Level 1�Quoted prices in active markets for identical instruments.
� Level 2�Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar

instruments in markets that are not active; and model-derived valuations in which all significant inputs and
significant value drivers are observable in active markets.

� Level 3�Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or significant
value drivers are unobservable.

     The Company�s investments are categorized as available-for-sale securities and recorded at fair market value.
Investments with maturities of 90 days or less from the date of purchase are classified as cash equivalents;
investments with maturities of greater than 90 days from the date of purchase but less than one year are generally
classified as short-term investments; and investments with maturities of greater than one year from the date of
purchase are generally classified as long-term investments. Unrealized holding gains and losses are reflected as a net
amount in a separate component of shareholders� equity until realized. For the purposes of computing realized gains
and losses, cost is determined on a specific identification basis.
     At June 30, 2010, the Company�s cash balance was $84.0 million and the cash equivalent balance was
$33.7 million. Cash equivalents primarily consist of highly liquid money market funds and certificates of deposit with
remaining maturities of less than three months when purchased.
     The Company has invested $6.4 million in auction rate securities with original maturities ranging from 2025 to
2040, but which had auctions to reset the yield every 7 to 35 days. The fair values of these auction rate securities
considered the credit worthiness of the counterparty, estimates of interest rates, expected holding periods, and the
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timing and value of expected future cash flows. Changes in the assumptions of the Company�s valuation could have a
significant impact on the value of these securities, which may cause losses and affect the Company�s liquidity
specifically for these
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MANHATTAN ASSOCIATES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

June 30, 2010
(unaudited)

securities potentially requiring us to record an impairment charge on these investments in the future. Certain auctions
failed during 2008 and the underlying securities were not called by the issuer. During 2008, the Company recorded an
other-than-temporary impairment charge of $3.5 million on one of these investments. The Company reduced the
carrying value to zero due to credit downgrades of the underlying issuer and the bond insurer as well as increasing
publicly reported exposure to bankruptcy risk by the issuer. From 2008 to 2010, the Company also recorded
temporary impairment charges of $0.4 million on these investments, of which $0.2 million was recorded during the
second quarter of 2010, resulting in $2.5 million in total auction rate securities investments on the balance sheet at
June 30, 2010. The unrealized loss is included as a separate component of shareholders� equity and in total
comprehensive income. The $2.5 million of auction rate securities held by the Company at June 30, 2010 were issued
by state or regional educational loan authorities and are collateralized by federally insured student loans. These
investments consequently have high credit ratings, and the Company intends and has the ability to hold these
securities until maturity or until redeemed. The Company will continue to evaluate the fair value of its investments in
auction rate securities each reporting period for a potential other-than-temporary impairment.
     The Company uses quoted prices from active markets which are classified at level 1 as a highest level observable
input in the disclosure hierarchy framework for all other available-for-sale securities.
     The following table set forth the assets carried at fair value measured on a recurring basis at June 30, 2010 (in
thousands):

Fair Value Measurements at June 30, 2010
Using

Significant
Other Significant

Observable Unobservable
Quoted
Prices Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

Money market funds $ 27,622 $ � $ � $ 27,622
Auction rate securities � � 2,532 2,532

Total available-for-sale securities $ 27,622 $ � $ 2,532 $ 30,154

5. Stock-Based Compensation
     In January 2010 the Compensation Committee approved certain changes to the Company�s historical equity
incentive grant practices, with the objective to optimize its performance and retention strength while managing
program share usage to improve long-term equity overhang. The changes eliminate stock option awards in favor of
100% restricted stock grants, which for the 2010 awards contain vesting provisions that are 50% service-based and
50% performance-based for employee awards and 100% service based for outside Board of Directors (�Outside
Directors�). The equity compensation program change for employees was effective January 2010 and for Outside
Directors was effective May 2010. The employee awards have a four year vesting period, with the performance
portion tied to annual revenue and earnings per share targets. The awards to Outside Directors have a one year vesting
period.
     During the three months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, the Company recorded stock option expense of
$0.9 million and $1.0 million, respectively. During the six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, the Company
granted options to purchase 17,500 shares and 573,075 shares of common stock, respectively. The Company recorded
stock option expense of $2.1 million and $2.4 million during the six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009,
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MANHATTAN ASSOCIATES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

June 30, 2010
(unaudited)

     A summary of changes in outstanding options for the six months ended June 30, 2010 is as follows:

Number of
Options

Outstanding at December 31, 2009 5,768,961
Granted 17,500
Exercised (797,958)
Forfeited and expired (34,248)

Outstanding at June 30, 2010 4,954,255

     The Company also granted 37,485 shares and 6,681 shares of restricted stock during the three months ended
June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The Company recorded restricted stock expense of $1.6 million and
$0.7 million during the three months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively. During the six months ended
June 30, 2010 and 2009, the Company granted 417,428 shares and 189,252 shares of restricted stock, respectively.
The Company recorded restricted stock expense of $3.0 million and $1.6 million during the six months ended June 30,
2010 and 2009, respectively.
     A summary of changes in unvested shares of restricted stock for the six months ended June 30, 2010 is as follows:

Number of
Shares

Outstanding at December 31, 2009 388,560
Granted 417,428
Vested (122,244)
Forfeited and expired (8,974)

Outstanding at June 30, 2010 674,770

6. Income Taxes
     The Company�s effective tax rate was 34.0% and 32.5% for the six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009,
respectively. The increase in the effective tax rate is principally due to the mix of foreign profits compared to U.S.
profits, partially offset by a tax benefit from the disqualifying disposition of incentive stock options that were
previously expensed.
     For the six month period ended June 30, 2010, there were no material changes to unrecognized tax benefits.
Further, there were no material changes to interest and penalties for the six month period. There has been no change to
the Company�s policy that recognizes potential accrued interest and penalties to unrecognized tax benefits within its
global operations in income tax expense.
     The Company conducts business globally and, as a result, files income tax returns in the United States Federal
jurisdiction and in many state and foreign jurisdictions. The Company is no longer subject to U.S. Federal or
significant state, local or non-US jurisdiction income tax examinations for the years before 2006.
7. Comprehensive Income
     Comprehensive income includes net income, foreign currency translation adjustments and unrealized gains and
losses on investments that are excluded from net income and reflected in shareholders� equity.
     The following table sets forth the calculation of comprehensive income for the three and six months ended June 30,
2010 (in thousands):
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MANHATTAN ASSOCIATES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

June 30, 2010
(unaudited)

Three Months Ended June
30,

Six Months Ended June
30,

2010 2009 2010 2009
Net income (loss) $ 8,189 $ (556) $ 15,384 $ (294)

Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustment (739) 1,268 (95) 556
Unrealized loss on investments (107) (86) (107) (86)

Other comprehensive (loss) income (846) 1,182 (202) 470

Comprehensive income $ 7,343 $ 626 $ 15,182 $ 176

8. Net Earnings (Loss) Per Share
     Basic net earnings (loss) per share is computed using net income (loss) divided by the weighted average number of
shares of common stock outstanding (�Weighted Shares�) for the period presented. Diluted net earnings (loss) per share
is computed using net income (loss) divided by the sum of Weighted Shares and common equivalent shares (�CESs�)
outstanding for each period presented using the treasury stock method.
     The following is a reconciliation of the net income (loss) and share amounts used in the computation of basic and
diluted net earnings (loss) per common share:

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
(in thousands, except per

share data)
(in thousands, except per

share data)
Net income (loss) $ 8,189 $ (556) $ 15,384 $ (294)
Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic $ 0.38 $ (0.02) $ 0.70 $ (0.01)
Effect of CESs (0.02) � (0.02) �

Diluted $ 0.36 $ (0.02) $ 0.68 $ (0.01)

Weighted average number of shares:
Basic 21,718 22,391 21,837 22,687
Effect of CESs 1,058 � 818 �

Diluted 22,776 22,391 22,655 22,687

     Weighted average shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options that were not included in the calculation of
diluted earnings per share were 949,508 shares and 2,245,599 shares for the three and six months ended June 30,
2010, respectively. Such shares were not included because they were anti-dilutive. All outstanding options and shares
of unvested restricted stock were anti-dilutive for the three bove, based on whether or not the candidate was
recommended by a stockholder. In submitting recommendations to the Nominating and Corporate Governance
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Committee for director nominee candidates, stockholders shall follow the following procedures:

Recommendations for nomination must be received by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee not later than the close of
business on the 90th day nor earlier than the close of business on the 120th day prior to the first anniversary of the date of the proxy statement
delivered to stockholders in connection with the preceding year�s annual meeting.

All recommendations for nomination must be in writing and include the following:

� Name and address of the stockholder making the recommendation, as they appear on our books and records;

� A representation that the stockholder is a record holder of our securities, or if the stockholder is not a record holder, evidence of
ownership in accordance with Rule 14a-8(b)(2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the �Exchange Act�);

� Name, age, business and residential address, educational background, current principal occupation or employment, and principal
occupation or employment for the preceding five full fiscal years of the individual recommended for consideration as a director
nominee;

� A written statement from the stockholder making the recommendation stating why such recommended candidate meets our minimum
qualifications and other criteria and would be able to fulfill the duties of a director;

� A written statement describing all arrangements or understandings between the stockholder and the proposed director candidate; and

� All other information relating to the recommended candidate that would be required to be disclosed in solicitations of proxies for the
election of directors or is otherwise required, in each case pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act, including the
recommended candidate�s written consent to being named in the proxy statement as a nominee and to serving as a director if approved
by the Board of Directors and elected.

14
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Nominations must be sent to the attention of our Secretary by U.S. mail (including courier or expedited delivery service) to:

LeMaitre Vascular, Inc.

63 Second Avenue

Burlington, Massachusetts 01803

Attn: Secretary of LeMaitre Vascular, Inc.

Our Secretary will promptly forward any such nominations to the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. Once the Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee receives the nomination of a candidate and the candidate has complied with the minimum procedural
requirements above, such candidacy will be evaluated and a recommendation with respect to such candidate will be delivered to the Board of
Directors.

SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our directors, executive officers, and holders of more than 10% of our common stock to file with the
SEC initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership of our common stock. Such persons are required by regulations of the SEC
to furnish us with copies of all such filings.

To the Company�s knowledge, based on its review of the copies of such reports furnished to the Company and certain written representations
made by directors and executive officers that no other reports were required during the year ended December 31, 2014, all Section 16(a) filing
requirements applicable to its officers, directors and greater than ten-percent beneficial owners were complied with during fiscal 2014, with the
exception of Form 4s that were not timely filed for Peter R. Gebauer in regard to shares withheld for tax purposes as the result of the vesting of
restricted stock units on each of February 27, 2014 and July 27, 2014.

15
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MEETINGS AND COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Meetings and Attendance

The Board meets on a regularly scheduled basis during the year to review significant developments affecting us and to act on matters requiring
Board approval. It also holds special meetings from time to time when Board action is required between scheduled meetings. Members of senior
management periodically attend Board meetings to report on and discuss their areas of responsibility. In 2014, the Board of Directors held six
meetings, and committees of the Board held a total of eleven meetings. All directors attended at least 75% of the aggregate number of meetings
of the Board and of the committees on which they served, held during the last fiscal year.

Our corporate governance guidelines provide that each director is expected to spend the time and effort to properly fulfill his or her
responsibilities, including regularly attending meetings of the Board and committees on which he or she sits, with the understanding that on
occasion a director may be unable to attend a meeting. A director who is unable to attend a meeting is expected to notify the Chairman of the
Board or the chairperson of the appropriate committee in advance of such meeting. Directors and nominees are encouraged to attend the annual
meeting of stockholders in person or telephonically. Four of our directors then in office attended the 2014 annual meeting.

Executive Sessions of Independent Directors

The Board of Directors holds an executive session of the independent directors at least once per year. Executive sessions do not include any of
our employee directors. The independent directors rotate the responsibility for chairing executive sessions.

Communication with the Board of Directors

Stockholders may communicate with all members of the Board of Directors, the chair of any committee of the Board of Directors, or any
individual director by directing the communication in writing in care of our Secretary at the address set forth on the front page of this Proxy
Statement. All communications will be received and processed by our Secretary, and the stockholder making such communications will receive
a written acknowledgement from our Secretary of the receipt of the communication.

Communications are distributed to the Chairman of the Board, as a representative of the Board of Directors, or to any individual director,
depending upon to whom the communication is addressed. In that regard, the Board of Directors has requested that certain communications
unrelated to the duties and responsibilities of the Board of Directors should be excluded, such as product complaints, inquiries, and suggestions;
other ordinary business affairs suited to our management; resumes and other forms of job inquiries; surveys; and business solicitations or
advertisements. In addition, material that is unduly hostile, threatening, illegal, or similarly unsuitable will be excluded.

Committees of the Board of Directors

Our Amended and Restated By-laws provide that the Board may delegate responsibility to committees. During 2014, the Board had three
standing committees: an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee, and a Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. The
membership of each of the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee, and the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is
comprised entirely of independent directors. In addition, all members of the Audit Committee meet the heightened standards of �independence� for
audit committee members required by Securities and Exchange Commission (�SEC�) rules and NASDAQ listing standards. The Board has also
determined that each member is free of any relationship that would impair his or her individual exercise of independent judgment with regard to
us.
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The table below shows the membership of each Board committee and the number of meetings held in 2014.

Name Audit Compensation

Nominating and
Corporate
Governance

Lawrence J. Jasinski X Chair X
George W. LeMaitre
John J. O�Connor Chair
John A. Roush X
Michael H. Thomas X Chair
2014 Meetings 5 3 1
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors was established by the Board in accordance with Section 3(a)(58)(A) of the Exchange Act, to
oversee our corporate accounting and financial reporting processes and audits of our financial statements. The Audit Committee currently
consists of Messrs. Jasinski, O�Connor and Roush. Mr. O�Connor serves as chairperson of the Audit Committee. The Board reviews the
NASDAQ listing standards definition of independence for Audit Committee members on an annual basis and has determined that all members of
our Audit Committee are independent (as independence is currently defined in Rule 5605(c)(2)(A)(i) and (ii) of the NASDAQ listing standards).
The Board has also determined that each member of the Audit Committee is financially sophisticated and is able to read and understand
consolidated financial statements and that Mr. O�Connor is an �audit committee financial expert� as defined in SEC rules. Stockholders should
understand that this designation is a disclosure requirement of the SEC related to Mr. O�Connor�s experience and understanding with respect to
certain accounting and auditing matters. The designation does not impose upon Mr. O�Connor any duties, obligations, or liabilities that are
greater than those generally imposed on him as a member of the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors, and his designation as audit
committee financial expert pursuant to this SEC requirement does not affect the duties, obligations, or liabilities of any other member of the
Audit Committee or the Board of Directors.

As described more fully in its charter, the Audit Committee oversees our accounting and financial reporting processes, internal controls, and
audit functions. In fulfilling its role, the Audit Committee�s responsibilities include:

� appointing, evaluating, and, where appropriate, replacing our independent registered public accounting firm;

� pre-approving all auditing services and permissible non-audit services provided to us by our independent registered public
accounting firm;

� reviewing with our independent registered public accounting firm and with management the proposed scope of the annual audit, past
audit experience, our program for the internal examination and verification of our accounting records, and the results of recently
completed internal examinations;

� resolving disagreements between management and our independent registered public accounting firm regarding financial reporting;

� reviewing major issues as to the adequacy of our internal controls;

� monitoring compliance with our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics as it pertains to issues regarding accounting, internal controls,
or auditing matters; and

� preparing the Audit Committee report required by SEC rules to be included in our annual proxy statement.
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The Audit Committee met five times during the year ended December 31, 2014. The Audit Committee operates under a written charter adopted
by the Board of Directors, a current copy of which is available at the Corporate Governance section of our investor relations website at
http://ir.lemaitre.com.
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Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee currently consists of Messrs. Jasinski and Thomas. Mr. Jasinski serves as the chairperson of the Compensation
Committee. All members of our Compensation Committee are independent (as independence is currently defined in Rule 5605(a)(2) of the
NASDAQ listing standards).

The Compensation Committee�s responsibilities include:

� administering our annual incentive and equity-based incentive plans;

� reviewing and making recommendations to the Board of Directors with respect to incentive compensation and equity-based plans;

� reviewing and determining compensation of executive officers and certain senior management;

� reviewing and making recommendations to the Board of Directors with respect to non-employee director compensation; and

� if and as required by SEC regulations, discussing with management the Compensation Discussion and Analysis and, if appropriate,
recommending its inclusion in our Annual Report on Form 10-K and proxy statement.

Typically, the Compensation Committee meets quarterly and with greater frequency if necessary. The agenda for each meeting is usually
developed by our Chief Executive Officer in consultation with the Chair of the Compensation Committee and our legal counsel. Our Chief
Executive Officer attends most meetings, but does not participate in, and is not present during, any deliberations or determinations of the
Compensation Committee regarding his compensation or individual performance objectives. From time to time, various members of
management and other employees as well as outside advisors or consultants may be invited by the Compensation Committee to make
presentations, to provide financial or other background information or advice or to otherwise participate in Compensation Committee meetings.
The charter of the Compensation Committee grants the Compensation Committee full access to all of our books, records, facilities and
personnel, as well as authority to obtain, at our expense, advice and assistance from internal and external legal, accounting or other advisors and
consultants and other external resources that the Compensation Committee considers necessary or appropriate in the performance of its duties. In
particular, the Compensation Committee has the sole authority to retain compensation consultants to assist in its evaluation of executive and
director compensation, including the authority to approve the consultant�s reasonable fees and other retention terms.

During the past year, neither the Compensation Committee nor management of the Company engaged any outside consultants as compensation
consultants nor have we engaged any consultants to perform any non-executive compensation consulting services.

The Compensation Committee typically determines the annual cash compensation for officers at a regular meeting held in the quarter preceding
the start of the fiscal year or in the first quarter of a fiscal year for that year. Generally, the Compensation Committee�s process comprises two
related elements: the determination of compensation levels and the establishment of performance objectives for the current year. In undertaking
this process, the Compensation Committee considers the degree to which each executive�s entire compensation package should be variable and
based on either personal performance or company performance. For executives other than our Chief Executive Officer, the Compensation
Committee solicits and considers evaluations and recommendations submitted to the Committee by our Chief Executive Officer, who provides
significant input on the compensation of the other executive officers and his other direct reports. In the case of our Chief Executive Officer, the
evaluation of his performance is conducted by the Compensation Committee, which determines any adjustments to his compensation. For all
executives, as part of its deliberations, the Compensation Committee may review and consider, as appropriate, materials such as financial reports
and projections, operational data, total compensation that may become payable to executives in various hypothetical scenarios, executive stock
ownership information, company stock performance data, analyses of historical executive compensation levels, current company-wide
compensation levels and recommendations of a compensation consultant, if engaged at the time, including analyses of executive compensation
paid at other companies identified by the consultant.
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The Compensation Committee has historically conducted an assessment in the first quarter following completion of the fiscal year and the
completion of our internal financial close process to review financial and operational results against performance objectives in order to
determine and, if and as appropriate, award non-equity incentive plan and bonus compensation relating to the prior fiscal year. Our Chief
Executive Officer submits detailed recommendations to the Compensation Committee but is not present for deliberations with respect to his own
compensation. If preliminary financial results are materially modified during the audit process, our named executive officers may be required to
repay any overpayments.

The Compensation Committee has historically considered and determined annual equity awards at a regular meeting in the third quarter of the
fiscal year. The Compensation Committee typically makes annual equity grants to our executive officers based upon, among other factors, the
level of the executive officer in our organization, the amount of equity remaining for grant under our equity incentive plan, and any contractual
agreements with the executive officer. These equity grants typically vest in equal annual installments over a period of five years, subject to
continued employment.

Additionally, the Compensation Committee considers matters related to individual compensation, such as compensation for new executive hires,
as well as high-level strategic issues, such as the efficacy of our compensation strategy, potential modifications to that strategy and new trends,
plans or approaches to compensation, at various meetings throughout the year. The Compensation Committee may also adjust performance
targets based upon strategic transactions occurring during the course of the fiscal year and other interim changes in our operating strategy. The
Compensation Committee also uses these meetings to administer our short-term incentive program, which involves the periodic and
discretionary determination of quarterly incentive goals for certain officers other than our Chief Executive Officer. Executive officers who
achieve their performance goals receive cash and equity awards following the quarter in which the goal was achieved.

The Compensation Committee is authorized to review and make recommendations regarding our non-employee director cash and equity
compensation programs, and related matters, for consideration by our Board of Directors, and considers such matters periodically.

The Compensation Committee met three times during the year ended December 31, 2014. The Compensation Committee operates under a
written charter adopted by the Board of Directors, a current copy of which is available at the Corporate Governance section of our investor
relations website at http://ir.lemaitre.com.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee currently consists of Messrs. Jasinski and Thomas. Mr. Thomas serves as chairperson of
the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. All members of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee are independent
(as independence is currently defined in Rule 5605(a)(2) of the NASDAQ listing standards). The Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee�s responsibilities include:

� developing and recommending to the Board criteria for board and committee membership;

� recommending director nominee candidates to the Board;

� periodically reassessing the Board�s Corporate Governance Guidelines and recommending any proposed changes to the Board for
approval; and

� monitoring, in cooperation with the Board�s Audit Committee, compliance with our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.
The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee met one time during the year ended December 31, 2014. The Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee operates under a written charter adopted by the Board of Directors, a current copy of which is available at the Corporate
Governance section of our investor relations website at http://ir.lemaitre.com.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed the audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2014 with management of
the Company. The Audit Committee has discussed with Ernst & Young LLP, the Company�s independent registered public accounting firm for
the year ended December 31, 2014, the matters that are required to be discussed by the applicable Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(�PCAOB�) standards. The Audit Committee also received the written disclosures and the letter from Ernst & Young LLP required by applicable
requirements of the PCAOB regarding the independent accountants� communications with the Audit Committee concerning independence and
has discussed with Ernst & Young LLP the accounting firm�s independence. Based on the foregoing, the Audit Committee recommended to the
Board of Directors that the audited financial statements be included in the Company�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2014.

Respectfully Submitted by the Audit Committee:

John J. O�Connor (Chairman)
Lawrence J. Jasinski
John A. Roush
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING OUR

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The following table shows the aggregate fees for professional services rendered by Ernst & Young LLP to the Company for the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013.

2014 2013
Audit Fees $ 874,000 $ 560,000
Audit-Related Fees 179,000 40,000
Tax Fees 20,000 20,000
All Other Fees 2,000 2,000

Total $ 1,075,000 $ 622,000

Audit Fees

Audit Fees for both years consist of fees for professional services associated with the annual consolidated financial statements� audit, statutory
filings, consents and assistance with, and review of, documents filed with the SEC.

Audit-Related Fees

Audit-Related Fees consist of fees for accounting consultations and other services that were reasonably related to the performance of audits or
reviews of our financial statements and were not reported above under �Audit Fees.� In 2014, this included work performed in connection with our
June stock offering and valuation work related to acquisitions.

Tax Fees

The Tax Fees for both years consist of fees for professional services rendered in relation to certain transfer pricing projects. The Audit
Committee determined that the provision of these services to us by Ernst & Young LLP was compatible with maintaining their independence.

Other Fees

In 2013 and 2014, the Other Fees consist of fees for access to an online research application. The Audit Committee determined that the provision
of this access by Ernst & Young LLP was compatible with maintaining their independence.

All of the fees referenced in the table above were pre-approved by our Audit Committee pursuant to the Pre-Approval Policy described below.

Pre-Approval Policy

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors has implemented procedures under our Audit Committee pre-approval policy to ensure that all
audit and permitted non-audit services to be provided to us have been pre-approved by the Audit Committee (the �Pre-Approval Policy�).
Specifically, the Audit Committee pre-approves the use of Ernst & Young LLP for specific audit and non-audit services, within approved
monetary limits. If a proposed service has not been pre-approved pursuant to the Pre-Approval Policy, then it must be specifically pre-approved
by the Audit Committee before it may be provided by Ernst & Young LLP. Any pre-approved services exceeding the pre-approved monetary
limits require specific approval by the Audit Committee.
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The Audit Committee has determined that the rendering of services other than audit services by Ernst & Young LLP is compatible with
maintaining the principal accountant�s independence.

Change in Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

On March 23, 2015, the Audit Committee approved the appointment of Grant Thornton LLP as the Company�s independent registered public
accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2015, and the dismissal of Ernst & Young LLP as the Company�s independent registered
public accounting firm.

The reports of Ernst & Young LLP on the Company�s consolidated financial statements as of and for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2014
and December 31, 2013 did not contain an adverse opinion or a disclaimer of opinion and were not qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit
scope or accounting principles.

In connection with the audits of the Company�s financial statements for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 and
through the date of this proxy statement, there were no disagreements between the Company and Ernst & Young LLP on any matter of
accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure, which, if not resolved to the satisfaction of
Ernst & Young LLP would have caused Ernst & Young LLP to make reference to the subject matter thereof in connection with their reports.
During the two most recent fiscal years and through the date of this proxy statement, there have been no �reportable events� (as defined in
Regulation S-K, Item 304(a)(1)(v)).

During the Company�s two most recent fiscal years and through the date of this proxy statement, the Company did not consult with Grant
Thornton LLP regarding any of the matters or events set forth in Item 304(a)(2)(i) or (ii) of Regulation S-K.

Meeting Attendance

Representatives of Ernst & Young LLP attended all in-person meetings of the Audit Committee in 2014.

We expect that a representative of Grant Thornton LLP will attend the Annual Meeting, will have an opportunity to make a statement if he or
she so desires and will also be available to respond to appropriate questions from stockholders. We do not expect any representatives of Ernst &
Young LLP to be in attendance.
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COMPENSATION OF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Executive Compensation Philosophy and Objectives

We have designed our executive compensation program to attract, retain, and motivate highly qualified executives and to align their interests
with the interests of our stockholders. The ultimate goal of our program is to increase stockholder value by providing executives with
appropriate incentives to achieve our business objectives. We seek to achieve this goal through a program that rewards executives for superior
performance, as measured by both financial and non-financial factors, and includes major compensation components that are linked to the
achievement of certain operational, financial, product development, and clinical objectives that are aimed at increasing both long-term and
short-term stockholder value. At least half of each named executive officer�s annual bonus opportunity under our Management Incentive
Compensation Plan is tied to company financial performance metrics. In this respect and through the grant of equity awards, we seek to align our
named executive officers� interests with those of our stockholders. Our use of equity-based awards that vest over time also encourages our
executives to remain in our employ.

Our Chief Executive Officer provides significant input on the compensation, including annual merit adjustments and equity awards, of the other
executive officers and his other direct reports. The Compensation Committee determines the annual base salary, bonus opportunities, and
equity-based awards provided to our Chief Executive Officer and approves the compensation of other executive officers, taking into
consideration the recommendations of our Chief Executive Officer.

The Compensation Committee�s executive compensation philosophy embraces three core objectives:

� Market Driven: Provide competitive compensation to attract, motivate, and retain superior talent;

� Pay-for-Performance: Reward individual and team successes linked to the achievement of certain operational, financial, product
development, regulatory and quality objectives aimed at increasing stockholder value; and

� Equitable: Ensure that rewards are internally and externally equitable.
Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth summary information concerning the compensation paid or earned for services rendered to us in all capacities
during the years ended December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2014, to our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and each of the
other three most highly compensated persons serving as our executive officers during 2014 who received total compensation during that year in
excess of $100,000 (collectively, the �named executive officers�).

Name and Principal Position Year
Salary
($)

Bonus(1)
($)

Stock
Awards
($)

Option
Awards(2)

($)

Non-Equity
Incentive
Plan

Compensation(3)
($)

All Other
Compensation(4)

($)
Total
($)

George W. LeMaitre 2014 $ 315,580 $ 5,000 $ �  $ 252,632 $ 177,908 $ 1,170 $ 752,291
Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer

2013 306,388 6,000 $ �  254,553 173,464 902 741,307

Joseph P. Pellegrino, Jr. 2014 247,236 �  �  151,937 78,977 �  478,150
Chief Financial Officer 2013 240,035 �  �  152,771 89,540 �  482,346

David B. Roberts 2014 333,174(5) 20,000 �  151,937 107,152 1,300 613,563
President 2013 325,218(5) 16,000 �  �  (5) 115,949 1,271 458,438

Peter R. Gebauer(6) 2014 295,149 �  9,116 112,181 157,838 101,583(7) 675,867
President, International Operations 2013 324,527 �  �  98,933 172,039 94,711(7) 690,210
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Robert V. Linden(8) 2014 198,672 �  �  50,647 60,747 1,553 311,619
Senior Vice President Sales,
The Americas

2013 192,886 �  �  50,924 92,881 897 337,588
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(1) Represents amounts paid as though certain individual Management Incentive Compensation Plan targets were achieved, where the
Compensation Committee believed that the objective of the bonus target had been substantively accomplished, or otherwise exercised its
discretion to interpret the bonus target.

(2) The dollar amounts in this column represent the aggregate grant date fair value for each option award granted to our named executive
officers for the indicated year pursuant to our equity compensation plans. These amounts have been calculated in accordance with FASB
ASC Topic 718 using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model excluding the impact of estimated forfeitures related to service-based vesting
conditions. For additional information regarding the assumptions used in the calculation of these amounts which is incorporated herein by
reference, please refer to Note 1 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2014 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 18, 2015.

(3) Represents cash incentive payments for the achievement of financial objectives and a portion of the corporate and/or management objectives
under our applicable management incentive plans. For more information regarding Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation, see the
��Narrative to Summary Compensation Table� discussion below.

(4) �All Other Compensation� includes for 2013 and 2014 an amount paid by the Company to match, in part, the contributions of each of Messrs.
LeMaitre, Roberts and Linden to his respective 401(k) plan account and in the case of Mr. Linden in 2014, a $643 fringe payment.

(5) Mr. Roberts requested, and the Compensation Committee agreed, to increase Mr. Roberts� salary beginning in 2012 by an amount equivalent
to the fair value of the stock option that otherwise would have been granted to him by the Compensation Committee in 2012, which the
Committee determined to be $150,000. This additional amount is being paid in equal installments over a five-year period in our
regularly-scheduled payroll. Mr. Roberts made the same request for 2013, to which the Compensation Committee agreed. This results in
Mr. Roberts receiving an additional $30,000 per year for five years beginning in 2012 and an additional $30,000 per year for five years
beginning in 2013.

(6) The amounts presented for Mr. Gebauer for 2013 were earned in Euros but are reported above in dollars based on an exchange rate for � to
U.S.$ as of December 31, 2013 of 1.3766. The amounts presented for Mr. Gebauer for 2014 were earned in Euros but are reported above in
dollars based on an exchange rate for � to U.S.$ as of December 31, 2014 of 1.2155.

(7) The amount shown for 2013 includes $44,300 for a tax reimbursement payment. The amount shown for 2014 includes $60,546 for a tax
reimbursement payment. Mr. Gebauer�s tax reimbursement payments are equal to an amount on an after-tax basis equal to the difference
between (a) the income tax Mr. Gebauer was actually required to pay in Germany on account of amounts paid to him by LeMaitre Vascular
GmbH in the prior calendar year, after giving effect to split pay, if any, and (b) the amount Mr. Gebauer would otherwise be required to pay
on account of such amounts for that year had he been a resident and solely working in Massachusetts during that year. This amount is paid
to Mr. Gebauer in four equal quarterly installments. All other perquisites payable or attributable to Mr. Gebauer in 2013 and 2014 were also
paid in Euros. The perquisites to which Mr. Gebauer is entitled are described below under ��Narrative to Summary Compensation
Table-Employment Agreements� and ��Narrative to Summary Compensation Table-Other Benefits.�

(8) Mr. Linden left the Company on April 3, 2015.
Narrative to Summary Compensation Table

Our goal is to attract, motivate, and retain highly capable and talented executives by providing competitive compensation that rewards our
Company�s successful performance and each executive�s contribution to that success. The Compensation Committee approaches our executive
compensation objectives through three key components:

� base salary;

� performance-based cash bonuses; and

� periodic grants of long-term stock-based compensation.
Employment Agreements

We are party to employment agreements with Messrs. LeMaitre, Pellegrino, Roberts and Gebauer. These agreements do not contain ongoing
contractual obligations relating to annual salary and bonus (other than for Mr. Gebauer as described in more detail below). Such employment
agreements do contain ongoing severance arrangements, the material terms of which are described in the section titled ��Severance
Arrangements Pursuant to Employment Agreements� below.
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Pursuant to the terms of his employment agreement, dated October 1, 2008, Mr. Gebauer was entitled to receive a minimum annual base salary
of �220,000 through December 31, 2009, after which his compensation is subject to annual adjustment, and he is eligible for an annual cash
performance bonus of not less than �72,978, upon the achievement of performance objectives approved by our Compensation Committee.
Additionally, Mr. Gebauer is entitled to receive quarterly tax equalization payments with respect to his base salary and cash performance bonus
in order to provide Mr. Gebauer, on an after-tax basis, with a net amount approximate to that which he would receive were he working in
Massachusetts, where our headquarters are located. Also, during each year of his employment, Mr. Gebauer is entitled to receive an equity
award with respect to our common stock, vesting over a five-year period, with a grant date fair value approximating at least �74,745, subject to
adjustment by our Compensation Committee in its reasonable discretion.

Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation

Under our Management Incentive Compensation Plan, or our bonus plan, annual cash bonus objectives are linked to certain operational,
financial, product development, regulatory and quality goals that have been approved by the Compensation Committee as management �planks.�
Our planks are our key performance objectives for the fiscal year. We seek to ensure that each objective is directly linked to increasing either
short-term or long-term stockholder value. These key performance objectives are intended to be directional in nature and challenging to achieve
in the aggregate, as corporate resource constraints may not always permit the necessary investment to achieve all of the objectives in a single
year.

The bonus plan compensation of our most senior officers is based, in part, on overall company financial performance metrics.

For Messrs. LeMaitre and Roberts, those metrics were the achievement of target levels of net sales of $70.9 million and operating income of
$5.1 million. In the case of Mr. LeMaitre, 80% of his target bonus opportunity for 2014 under our bonus plan was tied to these company
financial performance metrics, and in the case of Mr. Roberts, 61% of his target bonus opportunity for 2015 under our bonus plan was tied to
these company financial performance metrics. For Mr. Pellegrino, 53% of his target bonus opportunity was tied to the achievement of the target
operating income and sales levels specified above and other company financial performance metrics. 86% of the target bonus opportunity for
Mr. Gebauer and 89% of the target bonus opportunity for Mr. Linden were tied to company financial performance metrics related to the
territories they oversee.

A bonus was separately payable for each financial performance metric; thus, our failure to reach the minimum threshold for one performance
metric would result in no bonus payable for that metric, but could still result in a bonus payable for other performance metrics, presuming we
reached the minimum threshold performance for such metrics. Certain of these bonuses are earned based upon a continuously functioning,
sliding scale; thus, failure to reach the targeted performance level could still result in a lesser bonus payable, provided that a certain minimum
threshold had been achieved. Similarly, exceeding the targeted performance level could result in a greater bonus payable. In 2014, our net sales
of $71.1 million and operating income of $6.3 million both exceeded the target amounts set forth above, which resulted in higher payouts to our
named executive officers based on those metrics.

The remaining percentage of each named executive officer�s bonus opportunity for 2014 was tied to the achievement of individual objectives.
Notwithstanding that the objectives are individualized, in establishing those objectives, we seek to maximize the performance of our executive
officers in furthering Company �planks.� Individual performance measures for 2014 cash bonuses varied in scope and subject matter based on
each named executive officer�s department and area of functional responsibility.
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Target cash bonuses under the Management Incentive Compensation Plan for each of the named executive officers for 2014 are set forth in the
table below. Additionally, each named executive officer was provided the opportunity to earn additional amounts by way of performance beyond
targeted performance expectations.

Named Executive Officer

Target 2014 Non-Equity Incentive
Plan Compensation under

the
Management Incentive
Compensation Plan

($)
George W. LeMaitre $ 154,523
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Joseph P. Pellegrino, Jr. 83,884
Chief Financial Officer
David B. Roberts 109,270
President
Peter R. Gebauer 97,906(1) 
President, International Operations
Robert V. Linden(2) 77,261
Senior Vice President Sales, The Americas

(1) Determined in Euros but reported above in dollars based on an exchange rate for � to US$ as of December 31, 2014 of 1.2155.
(2) Mr. Linden left the Company on April 3, 2015.
Amounts earned pursuant to our Management Incentive Compensation Plan by our named executive officers are reflected in the �Non-Equity
Incentive Plan Compensation� payments column in the Summary Compensation Table. In addition, to provide incentives for executives to
perform at the highest levels, in 2013 and 2014, Messrs. Pellegrino, Roberts, Gebauer and Linden were eligible under our Management Incentive
Compensation Plan to receive separate and additional quarterly cash bonus payments upon the achievement of quarterly performance targets
recommended once per quarter by Mr. LeMaitre and approved by the Compensation Committee. These payments are also reflected in the
�Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation� column of the Summary Compensation Table above.

From time to time our Compensation Committee will exercise its discretion to waive or modify a performance target when the Compensation
Committee believes that the objective of the performance target has been substantively accomplished, or where there is other good cause to
recognize the superior performance of the executive officer. These amounts are reported as �Bonus� payments in the Summary Compensation
Table.

Equity Compensation

Our Compensation Committee approved annual stock option awards to the named executive officers at the committee�s regular meeting in the
third quarter of 2014. Each award was intended to be an incentive stock option to the maximum extent permitted by applicable laws and
regulations, with a per share exercise price equal to the closing price of our common stock on NASDAQ on the date of grant, and subject to a
seven-year term except in the case of Mr. LeMaitre, who received stock options with a per share exercise price equal to 110% of the closing
price of our common stock on NASDAQ on the date of grant and subject to a five-year term. Each option award vests in equal annual
installments over a period of five years. In addition, Mr. Gebauer received an equity award in the form of unrestricted stock equal to �7,500 in
January 2015 for his 2014 performance.

For 2012, Mr. Roberts requested, and the Compensation Committee agreed, to increase Mr. Roberts� salary beginning in 2012 by an amount
equivalent to the fair value of the stock option that otherwise would have been granted to him by the Compensation Committee in 2012, which
the Committee determined to be $150,000. This additional amount is being paid in equal installments over a five-year period in our
regularly-scheduled payroll.
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Mr. Roberts made the same request for 2013, to which the Compensation Committee agreed. This results in Mr. Roberts receiving an additional
$30,000 per year for five years beginning in 2012 and an additional $30,000 per year for five years beginning in 2013.

Other Benefits

We provide certain perquisites to Mr. Gebauer, our President, International Operations, who is an American citizen living overseas. In each of
2013 and 2014, he was provided with use of a company car, a contribution for 50% of his cost of private health insurance (as Mr. Gebauer is not
eligible for participation in the German public health insurance system), accident insurance, a pension contribution, reimbursement for a family
trip to the United States and reimbursement of expenses relating to personal tax preparation and advice.

We also provide Mr. Gebauer with a tax equalization payment that is designed to reimburse him for any additional taxes that he pays as a result
of his residence in Germany while employed by us. In 2013, Mr. Gebauer received a $44,300 tax equalization payment, which was paid to
Mr. Gebauer in Euros. In 2014, Mr. Gebauer received a $60,546 tax equalization payment, which was paid to Mr. Gebauer in Euros.
Mr. Gebauer�s tax reimbursement payments are equal to an amount on an after-tax basis equal to the difference between (a) the income tax
Mr. Gebauer was actually required to pay in Germany on account of amounts paid to him by LeMaitre Vascular GmbH in the prior calendar
year, after giving effect to split pay, if any, and (b) the amount Mr. Gebauer would otherwise be required to pay on account of such amounts for
that year had he been a resident and solely working in Massachusetts during that year. This amount is paid in four equal quarterly installments.
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Outstanding Equity Awards as of December 31, 2014

The following table presents information regarding outstanding option awards held by our named executive officers as of December 31, 2014.
There were no outstanding stock awards held by our named executive officers as of December 31, 2014.

Option Awards

Name

Number
of

Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options
(#)

Exercisable

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options
(#)

Unexercisable

Option
Exercise Price

($)
Option Expiration

Date
George W. LeMaitre 36,542(1) 54,812 $ 6.85 7/25/2017

18,453(2) 73,814 $ 7.34 7/24/2018
�  154,861(3) $ 8.66 7/24/2019

Joseph P. Pellegrino, Jr. 100,000 �  $ 11.78 12/22/2015
56,595 �  $ 3.00 7/27/2016
2,441(4) 611 $ 4.70 2/25/2017
35,472(5) 8,868 $ 5.85 7/26/2017
1,200(6) 300 $ 6.50 11/8/2017
24,719(7) 16,480 $ 7.10 7/26/2018
19,593(1) 29,390 $ 6.23 7/25/2019
9,809(2) 39,235 $ 6.67 7/24/2020

�  42,872(3) $ 7.87 7/24/2021
David B. Roberts 94,629 �  $ 3.27 6/6/2015

56,595 �  $ 3.00 7/27/2016
1,552 �  $ 4.41 11/6/2016
1,200(4) 300 $ 4.70 2/25/2017
35,472(5) 8,868 $ 5.85 7/26/2017
1,200(6) 300 $ 6.50 11/8/2017
900(8) 600 $ 6.51 4/26/2018

24,719(7) 16,480 $ 7.10 7/26/2018
�  42,872(3) $ 7.87 7/24/2021

Peter R. Gebauer 192,189 �  $ 0.10 �  
1,552 �  $ 4.41 11/6/2016
22,048(5) 5,513 $ 5.85 7/26/2017
17,728(7) 11,818 $ 7.10 7/26/2018
11,870(1) 17,805 $ 6.23 7/25/2019
6,224(9) 24,895 $ 6.80 8/7/2020

�  31,654(3) $ 7.87 7/24/2021
Robert V. Linden(10) 1,000 �  $ 10.45 1/27/2015

1,770 �  $ 11.30 7/20/2015
2,000 �  $ 11.78 12/22/2015
3,019 �  $ 3.00 7/27/2016
1,552 �  $ 4.41 11/6/2016
1,200(4) 300 $ 4.70 2/25/2017
5,769(5) 1,443 $ 5.85 7/26/2017
11,805(6) 2,952 $ 6.50 11/8/2017
8,240(7) 5,493 $ 7.10 7/26/2018
6,531(1) 9,797 $ 6.23 7/25/2019
3,270(2) 13,078 $ 6.67 7/24/2020

�  14,291(3) $ 7.87 7/24/2021
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(1) 20% of this award vested on July 25, 2013, and the remainder vests annually at the rate of 20% per year.
(2) 20% of this award vested on July 24, 2014, and the remainder vests annually at the rate of 20% per year.
(3) 20% of this award vests on July 24, 2015, and the remainder vests annually at the rate of 20% per year.
(4) 20% of this award vested on February 25, 2011, and the remainder vests annually at the rate of 20% per year.
(5) 20% of this award vested on July 26, 2011, and the remainder vests annually at the rate of 20% per year.
(6) 20% of this award vested on November 8, 2011, and the remainder vests annually at the rate of 20% per year.
(7) 20% of this award vested on July 26, 2012, and the remainder vests annually at the rate of 20% per year.
(8) 20% of this award vested on April 26, 2012, and the remainder vests annually at the rate of 20% per year.
(9) 20% of this award vested on August 7, 2014, and the remainder vests annually at the rate of 20% per year.
(10)Mr. Linden left the Company on April 3, 2015.
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Severance Arrangements Pursuant to Employment Agreements

Pursuant to employment agreements with Messrs. LeMaitre, Roberts, Gebauer and Pellegrino, we have severance arrangements as follows:

George W. LeMaitre

Pursuant to the terms of his employment agreement, dated October 10, 2005, Mr. LeMaitre is an at-will employee and either we or Mr. LeMaitre
may terminate his employment at any time. If Mr. LeMaitre terminates his employment for good reason, as defined in the agreement, or if we
terminate his employment without cause, as defined in the agreement, he is entitled to a lump sum payment equivalent to two weeks of his
then-current base salary for each completed twelve-month period of service as of the date of termination, but in no event to exceed 52 weeks of
such base salary. Mr. LeMaitre�s severance payment is conditioned upon his delivery of a signed non-disparagement agreement and release of
known and unknown claims related to his employment, his resignation as an officer and director, and his delivery to us of all company property
in his possession. Additionally, if Mr. LeMaitre is at any time found to have breached the terms of his obligations agreement, which includes
non-competition and non-solicitation covenants that continue for two years following Mr. LeMaitre�s termination, then Mr. LeMaitre must
reimburse us for any severance payments made after the first date on which Mr. LeMaitre�s breach occurred.

Joseph P. Pellegrino, Jr.

Pursuant to the terms of his employment agreement, dated April 20, 2006, Mr. Pellegrino is an at-will employee and either we or Mr. Pellegrino
may terminate his employment at any time. If we terminate his employment without cause, as defined in the agreement, he is entitled to a lump
sum payment equal to the greater of $100,000 or the equivalent of two weeks of base salary for each completed twelve-month period of service
as of the date of termination. Mr. Pellegrino�s severance payment is conditioned upon his delivery of a signed non-disparagement agreement and
release of known and unknown claims related to his employment, his resignation as an officer, and his delivery to us of all company property in
his possession. Additionally, if Mr. Pellegrino is at any time found to have breached the terms of his obligations agreement, which includes
non-competition and non-solicitation covenants that continue for two years following Mr. Pellegrino�s termination, then Mr. Pellegrino must
reimburse us for any severance payments made after the first date on which Mr. Pellegrino�s breach occurred.

David B. Roberts

Pursuant to the terms of his employment agreement, dated June 20, 2006, Mr. Roberts is an at-will employee and either we or Mr. Roberts may
terminate his employment at any time. If we terminate Mr. Roberts� employment without cause, as defined in the agreement, he is entitled to a
lump sum payment equivalent to four weeks of his then-current base salary for each completed twelve-month period of service as of the date of
termination, but in no event to exceed 52 weeks of such base salary. Mr. Roberts� severance payment is conditioned upon his delivery of a signed
non-disparagement agreement and release of known and unknown claims related to his employment, his resignation as an officer and director,
and his delivery to us of all company property in his possession. Additionally, we have the option to require that Mr. Roberts remain employed
for a 180-day transition period in order to receive the severance payment. If Mr. Roberts is at any time found to have breached the terms of his
obligations agreement, which includes non-competition and non-solicitation covenants that continue for two years following Mr. Roberts�
termination, then Mr. Roberts must reimburse us for any severance payments made after the first date on which Mr. Roberts� breach occurred.

Peter R. Gebauer

Pursuant to the terms of his employment agreement, dated October 1, 2008, we may terminate Mr. Gebauer�s employment for death or good
cause, as defined in the employment agreement. We may also terminate Mr. Gebauer�s employment for any reason upon the minimum amount of
prior notice required by

30

Edgar Filing: MANHATTAN ASSOCIATES INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 38



German law, provided that we pay him a lump sum payment equal to 13.5 months minus the duration of the applicable notice period of
Mr. Gebauer�s base salary, a lump sum payment equal to the pro rata amount of Mr. Gebauer�s annual cash performance bonus as per the day on
which notice of termination is received, a tax equalization payment for all base salary and cash performance bonus received by Mr. Gebauer
through the date of termination notice, and a continuation of private health insurance for a period of 7.5 months minus the duration of the
applicable notice period. Mr. Gebauer�s severance payment is conditioned upon his delivery of a signed non-disparagement agreement and
release of known and unknown claims related to his employment, his resignation as an officer, and his delivery to us of all company property in
his possession. Additionally, if Mr. Gebauer is at any time found to have breached the terms of his obligations agreement, which includes
non-competition and non-solicitation covenants that continue for two years following Mr. Gebauer�s termination, then Mr. Gebauer must
reimburse us for any severance payments made after the first date on which Mr. Gebauer�s breach occurred. Additionally, upon any termination
of Mr. Gebauer, we must reimburse him up to $74,800 of costs that he incurs in relocating back to the continental United States.

2014 DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

The following table sets forth the retainers, other cash fees, and equity compensation received by our non-employee directors during the year
ended December 31, 2014, as well as the compensation received by a current employee director who is not a named executive officer.

Name

Fees
Earned or
Paid in
Cash(1)
($)

Option
Awards(2)

($)

Non-Equity
Incentive
Plan

Compensation
($)

All Other
Compensation

($)
Total
($)

Russell D. Hays(3) $ 3,875 $ �  $ �  �  $ 3,875
Lawrence J. Jasinski 31,000 14,097 �  �  45,097
Cornelia W. LeMaitre(4) 92,714 35,450 35,696 645 164,505
John J. O�Connor 38,500 14,097 �  �  52,597
John A. Roush(5) 19,566 35,058 �  �  54,624
Michael H. Thomas 32,304 14,097 �  �  46,401

(1) Represents fees earned in 2014 pursuant to our non-employee director compensation policy discussed below, except as pertains to
Mrs. LeMaitre, as discussed in footnote 4 below.

(2) The dollar amounts in this column represent the aggregate grant date fair value for each option award granted to our directors in 2014
pursuant to our equity compensation plans. These amounts have been calculated in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718 using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model excluding the impact of estimated forfeitures related to service-based vesting conditions. For
additional information regarding the assumptions used in the calculation of these amounts which is incorporated herein by reference,
please refer to Note 1 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2014 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 18, 2015.

(3) On April 8, 2014, Mr. Hays resigned as a member of the Board of Directors.
(4) All amounts reported in this table for Mrs. LeMaitre reflect compensation payments made to her in her capacity as an employee.

Mrs. LeMaitre is our Vice President, Human Resources. Mrs. LeMaitre does not receive any additional compensation for her services as
director.

(5) On April 9, 2014, Mr. Roush was appointed to the Board of Directors.
Employee directors do not receive cash compensation for their service as members of the Board of Directors. During 2014, in accordance with
our compensation program for non-employee directors, non-employee directors received an annual retainer for Board membership of $10,000
and an annual retainer for each committee membership of $1,000, except that members of the Audit Committee receive an annual retainer for
committee membership of $2,500. The chairmen of our committees receive an annual retainer of $5,000, except
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that the chairman of the Audit Committee receives an annual retainer of $15,000. Annual retainer payments are pro-rated based upon days of
service in the event a non-employee director joins or leaves the Board of Directors during any calendar year. Non-employee directors also
receive a fee of $2,500 for each regularly scheduled quarterly Board meeting attended in person, $1,000 for each regularly scheduled quarterly
Board meeting attended by telephone or videoconferencing, $500 for each special Board meeting attended either in person or by telephone or
videoconferencing, and $500 for each committee meeting attended either in person or by telephone or teleconference. Aggregate cash
compensation paid to any non-employee director for any year may not exceed $40,000 without the approval of the Board.

Upon their initial election or appointment to the Board of Directors, non-employee directors receive an option to purchase 20,000 shares of our
common stock, subject to vesting in three equal annual installments based upon continued service. In addition, thereafter, each non-employee
director receives an option to purchase 7,500 shares of our common stock at the first Board meeting following each annual meeting of our
stockholders, provided that he or she has served as a director for at least six months.

All of the directors are reimbursed for out-of-pocket expenses incurred on our behalf, and all of the directors are eligible to participate in the
Second Amended and Restated 2006 Stock Option and Incentive Plan on an ad hoc basis from time to time at the discretion of the Board of
Directors.
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CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has a written policy that any transaction that would require disclosure under Item 404(a) of Regulation S-K of the rules and
regulations of the SEC, with a �related person� must be reviewed and approved or ratified by the Audit Committee and/or the Board of Directors,
excluding any director interested in such transaction.

Except as disclosed below or elsewhere in this Proxy Statement, there were no transactions with any of directors, executive officers, holders of
more than 5% of our voting securities, or any member of the immediate family of the foregoing persons, since January 1, 2013.
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PROPOSAL 1

ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Our Board of Directors currently consists of seven members. Our charter divides the Board of Directors into three classes. One class is elected
each year for a term of three years. Vacancies on the Board may be filled only by persons elected by a majority of the remaining directors. A
director elected by the Board to fill a vacancy in a class, including vacancies created by an increase in the number of directors, shall serve for the
remainder of the full term of that class and until the director�s successor is duly elected and qualified.

The Board of Directors, upon the recommendation of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, has nominated Lawrence J.
Jasinski, Cornelia W. LeMaitre and John J. O�Connor and recommended that each be elected to the Board of Directors as a Class III director,
each to hold office until the annual meeting of stockholders to be held in the year 2018 and until his or her successor has been duly elected and
qualified or until his or her earlier death, resignation, or removal. Each of the nominees is currently serving as one of our directors following
their previous election by our stockholders, and their current terms as Class III directors expire at this Meeting.

The Board of Directors knows of no reason why any of the nominees would be unable or unwilling to serve, but if any nominee should for any
reason be unable or unwilling to serve, the proxies will be voted for the election of such other person for the office of director as the Board of
Directors may recommend in the place of such nominee. Unless otherwise instructed, the proxy holders will vote the proxies received by them
for the nominees named below.

This Proposal 1 relates solely to the election of three Class III directors nominated by the Board and does not include any other matters relating
to the election of directors, including, without limitation, the election of directors nominated by any of our stockholders.

Recommendation of the Board

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE

�FOR� THE ELECTION OF LAWRENCE J. JASINSKI, CORNELIA W. LEMAITRE

AND JOHN J. O�CONNOR.
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PROPOSAL 2

APPROVAL OF THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED 2006 STOCK OPTION AND INCENTIVE PLAN

Overview

We are asking our stockholders to approve the �Third Amended and Restated 2006 Stock Option and Incentive Plan,� which is the amendment and
restatement of our Second Amended and Restated 2006 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, to: (i) add 2,500,000 shares of our common stock to
our existing share reserve, (ii) provide that stock awards may be granted until the tenth anniversary of the date the Third Amended and Restated
2006 Stock Option and Incentive Plan is approved by our stockholders, (iii) provide that incentive stock options may be granted until the tenth
anniversary of the date the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Stock Option and Incentive Plan was approved by our Board, (iv) increase the
number of shares that may be issued pursuant to incentive stock options, and (v) for purposes of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended, or the Code, (a) confirm the applicable award limits for purposes of compliance with Section 162(m), (b) confirm existing
performance criteria upon which performance goals may be based with respect to performance awards under the Third Amended and Restated
2006 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, and (c) confirm existing permitted means of adjustment when calculating the attainment of performance
goals for performance awards granted under the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Stock Option and Incentive Plan. We refer to the Third
Amended and Restated 2006 Stock Option and Incentive Plan as the �Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan� in this proxy statement.

Our Board and our stockholders originally adopted the 2006 Stock Option and Incentive Plan in May 2006 in connection with our initial public
offering (the �Original 2006 Plan�). Initially, the aggregate number of shares of our common stock that may be issued pursuant to stock awards
under the Original 2006 Plan was 750,000 shares. In April 2009, our Board amended and restated the Original 2006 Plan (the �Amended and
Restated 2006 Plan�), subject to stockholder approval, to, among other things, (i) increase the aggregate number of shares authorized for issuance
under the Original 2006 Plan by 750,000 shares to 1,500,000 shares, plus such number of shares representing expired, cancelled or terminated
stock options or awards under the Company�s 1997 Stock Option Plan, 1998 Stock Option Plan, 2000 Stock Option Plan and 2004 Stock Option
Plan (collectively, the �Prior Plans�), (ii) allow for the issuance of cash-based awards under the Amended and Restated 2006 Plan and (iii) update
tax-related provisions. This amendment and restatement was designed to enhance the flexibility of the Compensation Committee in granting
stock options and other awards to our officers, employees, non-employee directors and other key persons and to ensure that the Company could
continue to grant stock options and other awards to such persons at levels determined to be appropriate by the Compensation Committee. Our
stockholders approved the Amended and Restated 2006 Plan in June 2009.

In April 2010, our Board approved an amendment and restatement of the Amended and Restated 2006 Plan (the �Second Amended and Restated
2006 Plan�), subject to stockholder approval, to, among other things, increase the aggregate number of shares of our common stock authorized for
issuance under the 2006 Plan by 1,500,000 shares to 3,000,000 shares, plus such number of shares representing expired, cancelled or terminated
stock options or awards under our Prior Plans. This amendment and restatement was designed to ensure that we could continue to grant stock
options and other awards to our officers, employees, non-employee directors and other key persons at levels determined to be appropriate by the
Compensation Committee. Our stockholders approved the Second Amended and Restated 2006 Plan in June 2010.

As of April 1, 2015, awards covering an aggregate of 3,983,910 shares of common stock have been granted under the Second Amended and
Restated 2006 Plan. Of these, awards covering an aggregate of 2,293,631 shares are currently outstanding. Only 284,164 shares of common
stock (plus any shares that might in the future be returned to the Second Amended and Restated 2006 Plan as a result of the expiration,
cancellation or termination of stock options or awards granted under our Second Amended and Restated 2006 Plan and our Prior Plans)
remained available for future grant under the Second Amended and Restated 2006 Plan.

In April 2015, our Board approved the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan, subject to stockholder approval, to increase the number of
shares of our common stock authorized for issuance under the Second
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Amended and Restated 2006 Plan by an additional 2,500,000 shares to a total of 5,500,000 shares, plus such number of shares representing
expired, cancelled or terminated stock options or awards under our Prior Plans. Our Board adopted this amendment and restatement in order to
ensure that the Company can continue to grant equity incentive awards at levels determined appropriate by our Compensation Committee. If
approved by our stockholders, the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan will become effective as of the Annual Meeting date.

Stockholders are requested in this Proposal 2 to approve the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan. If the Third Amended and Restated 2006
Plan is not approved by our stockholders, the Second Amended and Restated 2006 Plan will continue in effect until it expires, and awards may
be granted thereunder, in accordance with its terms. The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares present in person or
represented by proxy and entitled to vote will be required to approve the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan. Abstentions will be counted
toward the tabulation of votes cast on proposals presented to the stockholders and will have the same effect as negative votes. Broker non-votes
are counted towards a quorum, but are not counted in determining whether this matter has been approved.

Equity awards have been historically and, we believe, will continue to be an integral component of our overall compensation program for our
employees, officers and directors. Since the adoption of the Original 2006 Plan, we have invested in the growth of our business, including hiring
additional employees, resulting in a corresponding increase in the number of stock awards granted to employees. Approval of the Third
Amended and Restated 2006 Plan will allow us to continue to grant stock options and other equity awards at levels we determine to be
appropriate in order to attract new employees and directors, retain our existing employees and to provide incentives for such persons to exert
maximum efforts for our success and ultimately increase stockholder value. The Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan allows the Company to
continue to utilize a broad array of equity incentives with flexibility in designing such incentives.

Overhang

The following table provides certain additional information regarding our equity incentive plans, as of April 1, 2015:

As of
April 1,
2015

Total Shares Subject to Outstanding Stock Options(1) 2,080,713
Total Shares Subject to Outstanding Restricted Stock Unit Awards(2) 212,918
Weighted-Average Exercise Price of Outstanding Stock Options(1) $ 6.66
Weighted-Average Remaining Term of Outstanding Stock Options(1) 4.23
Total Shares Available for Grant under the Second Amended and Restated 2006 Plan(3) 284,164
Closing Price of Common Stock $ 8.27

(1) Includes option awards granted under our Original 2006 Plan, Amended and Restated 2006 Plan, Second Amended and Restated 2006
Plan and the Prior Plans.

(2) Restricted stock units were not granted under our Prior Plans.
(3) As of April 1, 2015, no shares were available for grant under any of our other equity incentive plans.
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2014 Fiscal Year Share Usage

The following table provides detailed information regarding the activity related to our equity incentive plans for fiscal year 2014.

Fiscal
Year 2014

Shares Subject to Stock Options Granted 508,537
Shares Subject to Restricted Stock Unit Awards Granted 84,345
Shares Subject to Stock Options Cancelled 29,539
Shares Subject to Restricted Stock Unit Awards Cancelled 46,802
Weighted-Average Common Stock Outstanding 16,614,141

Forecasted Overhang and Burn Rate

We monitor our equity grant activity, total dilution and equity compensation expense in an effort to maximize stockholder value by granting
only the appropriate number and type of equity awards necessary to attract, reward and retain key employees and directors. In requesting
approval of the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan, we are asking stockholders for a pool of shares that we believe, absent a material
company acquisition or similar event, will be sufficient for approximately the next four years to provide an appropriate amount of equity for
attracting, retaining, and motivating employees and directors as we continue to grow our business. We also reviewed certain forecasts of
overhang and burn rate with respect to employee and non-employee directors, as summarized below.

FY 2014
Actual

FY
2015

Forecast

FY
2016

Forecast

FY
2017

Forecast

FY
2018

Forecast
Issued Overhang %(1) 14% 15% 17% 17% 18% 
Total Overhang %(2) 16% 29% 27% 24% 21% 
Gross Burn Rate as a % of Outstanding(3) 15% 15% 17% 18% 18% 
Adjusted Burn Rate as a % of Outstanding(4) 14% 14% 17% 17% 18% 

(1) Issued Overhang is (total shares subject to options granted + total shares subject to full value awards granted)/total common shares
outstanding.

(2) Total Overhang is (total shares subject to options granted + total shares subject to full value awards granted + total remaining pool
reserve)/total common shares outstanding.

(3) Gross Burn Rate is (total shares subject to options granted + total shares subject to full value awards granted)/weighted average common
shares outstanding.

(4) Adjusted Burn Rate is (total shares subject to options granted + total shares subject to full value awards granted�total shares subject to
options and full value awards that expired, terminated or were forfeited)/weighted average common shares outstanding.

Approval of the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan by our stockholders will also constitute approval of terms and conditions set forth
therein that will permit us to grant stock options and performance awards under the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan that may qualify as
�performance-based compensation� within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code. Section 162(m) of the Code denies a deduction to any
publicly held corporation and its affiliates for certain compensation paid to �covered employees� in a taxable year to the extent that compensation
to a covered employee exceeds $1,000,000. However, some kinds of compensation, including qualified �performance-based compensation,� are
not subject to this deduction limitation and we believe it is in the best interests of us and our stockholders to preserve the ability to grant
�performance-based compensation� under Section 162(m) of the Code. For the grant of awards under a plan to qualify as �performance-based
compensation� under Section 162(m) of the Code, among other things, the plan must (i) describe the employees eligible to receive such awards,
(ii) provide a per-person limit on the number of shares subject to stock options and performance stock awards, and the amount of cash that may
be subject to performance cash awards, granted to any employee under the plan in any year, and (iii) include one or more pre-established
business criteria upon
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which the performance goals for performance awards may be granted (or become vested or exercisable). These terms must be approved by
stockholders and, accordingly, our stockholders are requested to approve the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan, which includes terms
regarding eligibility for awards, per-person limits on awards and the business criteria for performance awards granted under the Third Amended
and Restated 2006 Plan.

Note Regarding Forecasts and Forward-Looking Statements

We do not as a matter of course make public forecasts as to our total shares outstanding and utilization of various equity awards due to the
unpredictability of the underlying assumptions and estimates. In particular, the forecasts set forth above in this Proposal 2 include embedded
assumptions regarding option exercises, which are highly dependent on the public trading price of our common stock and other factors, which
we do not control and, as a result, we do not as a matter of practice provide forecasts. There may be high variability inherent in these
assumptions.

However, we have included above these forecasts to provide our stockholders with additional information for purposes of evaluating the Third
Amended and Restated 2006 Plan. These forecasts reflect various assumptions regarding our future operations.

The inclusion of the forecasts set forth above should not be regarded as an indication that these forecasts will be predictive of actual future
outcomes, and the forecasts should not be relied upon as such. Neither we nor any other person makes any representation to any of our
stockholders regarding actual outcomes compared to the information contained in the forecasts set forth above. Although presented with
numerical specificity, the forecasts are not fact and reflect numerous assumptions and estimates as to future events made by our management
that our management believed were reasonable at the time the forecasts were prepared. In addition, the utilization forecasts with respect to our
equity awards do not take into account any circumstances or events occurring after the date that they were prepared and, accordingly, do not give
effect to any changes to our operations or strategy that may be implemented in the future. Accordingly, actual outcomes may be, and likely will
be, materially different than those reflected in the forecasts. We do not intend to update or otherwise revise the forecasts to reflect circumstances
existing after the date when made or to reflect the occurrence of future events even if any or all of the assumptions underlying the forecasts are
shown to be in error. The forecasts are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, and Section 21A of the Exchange Act of 1934. These statements involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual outcomes to
differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements, including our ability to attract and retain talent, the extent of option exercise
activity, and others described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014.

Important Aspects of our Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan Designed to Protect our Stockholders� Interests

The Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan includes certain provisions that are designed to protect our stockholders� interests and to reflect
corporate governance best practices including:

� Submission of amendments to Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan to stockholders. The Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan
requires stockholder approval for material amendments to the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan, including any increase in the
number of shares reserved for issuance under the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan.

� Repricing is not allowed without stockholder approval. The Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan prohibits reducing the exercise
price of outstanding stock options or stock appreciation rights or repricing such stock awards without prior stockholder approval.

� Stockholder approval is required for additional shares. The Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan does not contain an annual
�evergreen� provision. The Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan authorizes a fixed number of shares, so that stockholder approval
is required to issue any additional shares, allowing our stockholders to have direct input on our equity compensation programs.
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� Flexibility in designing equity compensation scheme. The Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan allows us to provide a broad array
of equity incentives, including traditional option grants, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit
awards, performance-based stock awards, and unrestricted stock awards. By providing this flexibility we can quickly and effectively
react to trends in compensation practices and continue to offer competitive compensation arrangements to attract and retain the talent
necessary for the success of our business.

� Broad-based eligibility for equity awards. We grant equity awards to a large portion of our employees. By doing so, we tie our
employees� interests with stockholder interests and motivate our employees to act as owners of the business.

� Limits on awards. No person may be granted stock options and stock appreciation rights covering more than 3,000,000 shares of our
common stock under the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan during any one calendar year. Additionally, no person may be
granted in a performance cycle, a performance-based restricted stock award or restricted stock unit award covering more than
3,000,000 shares or a performance cash award having a maximum value in excess of $2,000,000.

Summary of the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan

The following description of certain features of the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan is a summary only, and is qualified in its entirety by
the full text of the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan attached hereto as Appendix A.

Share Reserve. The maximum number of shares of our common stock reserved and available for issuance under the Third Amended and
Restated 2006 Plan is the sum of (i) 5,500,000 shares, and (ii) such number of shares as equals that number of stock options or awards returned
to the Prior Plans, in each case as a result of the expiration, cancellation or termination of such stock options or awards. In addition, the shares
underlying any awards that are forfeited, canceled, held back upon exercise of an option or settlement of an award to cover the exercise price or
tax withholding, reacquired by the Company prior to vesting, satisfied without the issuance of shares or otherwise terminated (other than by
exercise) shall be added back to the shares available for issuance under the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan.

Plan Administration. The Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee. The Compensation
Committee has full power to select, from among the individuals eligible for awards, the individuals to whom awards will be granted, to make
any combination of awards to participants, and to determine the specific terms and conditions of each award, subject to the provisions of the
Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan. The Compensation Committee may delegate to an officer, including our Chief Executive Officer, the
authority to grant stock options to employees who are not subject to the reporting and other provisions of Section 16 of the Exchange Act and
not subject to Section 162(m) of the Code, subject to certain limitations and guidelines.

Qualified Performance-Based Compensation under Code Section 162(m) To ensure that certain awards granted under the Third Amended and
Restated 2006 Plan to a �Covered Employee� (as defined in the Code) qualify as �performance-based compensation� under Section 162(m) of the
Code, the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan provides that the Compensation Committee may require that the vesting of such awards be
conditioned on the satisfaction of certain performance criteria that may include any or all of the following:

� our return on equity, assets, capital or investment;

� our pre-tax or after-tax profit levels or those of any of our subsidiaries, divisions, operating units, business segments, or any
combination of the foregoing;

� net sales, gross margin, operating income, cash flow, funds from operations or similar measures;

� total stockholder return;
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� changes in the market price of our common stock;

� sales or market share;

� earnings per share;

� status of clinical studies and other regulatory approvals and milestones;

� manufacturing developments and/or progress;

� achievement of sales milestones; and

� our other operational objectives.
The Compensation Committee will select the particular performance criteria within 90 days following the commencement of a performance
cycle.

Eligibility. Persons eligible to participate in the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan will be our full or part-time officers, employees,
non-employee directors and other key persons (including our consultants and prospective employees) as selected from time to time by the
Compensation Committee in its discretion. As of April 1, 2015, the Company had 347 employees, 24 consultants and four non-employee
directors, all of whom were eligible to participate under the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan.

Plan Limits. The maximum award of stock options or stock appreciation rights granted to any one individual will not exceed 3,000,000 shares of
common stock (subject to adjustment for stock splits and similar events) for any calendar year period. If any award of restricted stock or
restricted stock units granted to an individual is intended to qualify as �performance-based compensation� under Section 162(m) of the Code, then
the maximum award shall not exceed 3,000,000 shares of common stock (subject to adjustment for stock splits and similar events) to any one
such individual in any performance cycle. If any cash-based award is intended to qualify as �performance-based compensation� under
Section 162(m) of the Code, then the maximum award to be paid in cash in any performance cycle may not exceed $2,000,000. In addition, no
more than 5,500,000 shares will be issued in the form of incentive stock options.

Stock Options. The Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan permits the granting of (1) options to purchase common stock intended to qualify as
incentive stock options under Section 422 of the Code and (2) options that do not so qualify. Stock options granted under the Third Amended
and Restated 2006 Plan will be non-qualified stock options if they fail to qualify as incentive stock options or exceed the annual limit on
incentive stock options. Incentive stock options may only be granted to our employees. Non-qualified stock options may be granted to any
persons eligible to receive incentive stock options and to non-employee directors and key persons. The option exercise price of each stock option
will be determined by the Compensation Committee but may not be less than 100% of the fair market value of the common stock on the date of
grant. Fair market value for this purpose will be the last reported sale price of the shares of common stock on the NASDAQ on the date of grant.
The exercise price of an option may not be reduced after the date of the option grant, other than to appropriately reflect changes in our capital
structure.

The term of each stock option will be fixed by the Compensation Committee and may not exceed ten years from the date of grant. The
Compensation Committee will determine at what time or times each stock option may be exercised. Stock options may be made exercisable in
installments and the exercisability of stock options may be accelerated by the Compensation Committee.

Upon exercise of stock options, the stock option exercise price must be paid in full either in cash, by certified or bank check or other instrument
acceptable to the Compensation Committee or by delivery (or attestation to the ownership) of shares of our common stock that are beneficially
owned by the optionee for at least six months or were purchased in the open market. Subject to applicable law, the exercise price may also be
delivered to us by a broker pursuant to irrevocable instructions to the broker from the optionee. In addition, the Compensation Committee may
permit non-qualified options to be exercised using a net exercise feature which reduces the number of shares issued to the optionee by the
number of shares with a fair market value equal to the exercise price.
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To qualify as incentive stock options, stock options must meet additional federal tax requirements, including a $100,000 limit on the value of
shares subject to incentive stock options that first become exercisable by a participant in any one calendar year.

Stock Appreciation Rights. The Compensation Committee may award stock appreciation rights subject to such conditions and restrictions as the
Compensation Committee may determine. Stock appreciation rights entitle the recipient to shares of common stock equal to the value of the
appreciation in the stock price over the exercise price. The exercise price is the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant.

Restricted Stock. The Compensation Committee may award shares of common stock to participants subject to such conditions and restrictions as
the Compensation Committee may determine. These conditions and restrictions may include the achievement of certain performance goals (as
summarized above) and/or continued employment with us through a specified restricted period.

Restricted Stock Units. The Compensation Committee may award restricted stock units to any participants. Restricted stock units are ultimately
payable in the form of shares of common stock and may be subject to such conditions and restrictions as the Compensation Committee may
determine. These conditions and restrictions may include the achievement of certain performance goals (as summarized above) and/or continued
employment with us through a specified vesting period. In the Compensation Committee�s sole discretion, it may permit a participant to make an
advance election to receive a portion of his or her future cash compensation otherwise due in the form of a restricted stock unit award, subject to
the participant�s compliance with the procedures established by the Compensation Committee and requirements of Section 409A of the Code.

Performance Share Awards. The Compensation Committee may grant performance share awards to any participant which entitle the recipient to
receive shares of common stock upon the achievement of certain performance goals (as summarized above) and such other conditions as the
Compensation Committee shall determine.

Unrestricted Stock Awards. The Compensation Committee may also grant shares of common stock which are free from any restrictions under
the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan. Unrestricted stock may be granted to any participant in recognition of past services or other valid
consideration and may be issued in lieu of cash compensation due to such participant.

Cash-Based Awards. The Compensation Committee may grant cash bonuses under the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan to participants.
The cash bonuses may be subject to the achievement of certain performance goals (as summarized above).

Transferability. In general, unless otherwise permitted by the Compensation Committee, no stock awards granted under the Third Amended and
Restated 2006 Plan are transferable by a participant other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution or a domestic relations order.
The Compensation Committee, in its discretion, may provide either in the stock award certificate regarding a given stock award or by
subsequent written approval that the participant (who is an employee or director) may transfer his or her stock awards (other than any incentive
stock options) to his or her immediate family members, to trusts for the benefit of such family members, or to partnerships in which such family
members are the only partners, provided that the transferee agrees in writing with the Company to be bound by all of the terms and conditions of
the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan and the applicable award.

Consolidations, Mergers or Sales of Assets or Stock. The Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan provides that if the Company is to be
consolidated with or acquired by another person or entity in a merger or in the event of a sale of all or substantially all of the Company�s assets or
stock or otherwise, the Compensation Committee or the board of directors of the entity assuming our obligations under the Third Amended and
Restated 2006 Plan will take one or more of the following actions:

� make appropriate provision for the continuation of awards by substituting the consideration payable in connection with the
Acquisition;
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� accelerate the date of exercise of awards;

� provide that all awards must be exercised, to the extent then exercisable, within a specified time period, at the end of which period
the awards shall terminate;

� terminate all awards in exchange for a cash payment equal to the excess of the fair market value of the shares subject to such award
(to the extent then exercisable) over their exercise price; or

� in the event of a stock sale, require that the optionee sell to the purchaser all shares previously issued to such optionee upon exercise
of any award, at a price equal to the portion of the net consideration from such sale which is attributable to such shares.

Substitute Awards. The Compensation Committee may grant awards under the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan in substitution for stock
and stock based awards held by employees, directors or other key persons of another corporation in connection with the merger or consolidation
of the employing corporation or affiliate thereof with the Company or a subsidiary or the acquisition by the Company or a subsidiary of property
or stock of the employing corporation or affiliate thereof. The Compensation Committee may direct that the substitute awards be granted on such
terms and conditions as the Compensation Committee considers appropriate in the circumstances. Any substitute awards granted under the Third
Amended and Restated 2006 Plan will not count against the share reserve.

Adjustments for Stock Dividends, Stock Splits, Etc. The Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan requires the Compensation Committee to make
appropriate adjustments (1) to the number of shares of common stock that are subject to the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan, (2) to
certain limits in the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan, and (3) to any outstanding awards to reflect stock dividends, stock splits,
extraordinary cash dividends and similar events.

Tax Withholding. Participants in the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan are responsible for the payment of any federal, state or local taxes
that we are required by law to withhold upon the exercise of options or stock appreciation rights or vesting of other awards. Subject to approval
by the Compensation Committee, participants may elect to have the minimum tax withholding obligations satisfied by authorizing us to withhold
shares of common stock to be issued pursuant to the exercise or vesting.

Amendments and Termination. The Board may at any time amend or discontinue the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan and the
Compensation Committee may at any time amend or cancel any outstanding award for the purpose of satisfying changes in the law or for any
other lawful purpose. However, no such action may adversely affect any rights under any outstanding award without the holder�s consent. Any
amendments that materially change the terms of the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan (other than amendments that curtail the scope of the
Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan), including any amendments that increase the number of shares reserved for issuance under the Third
Amended and Restated 2006 Plan, expand the types of awards available, materially expand the eligibility to participate in, materially extend the
term of, or materially change the method of determining the fair market value of shares under the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan, will
be subject to approval by our stockholders. Amendments shall also be subject to approval by our stockholders if and to the extent determined by
the Compensation Committee to be required by the Code to preserve the qualified status of incentive stock options or to ensure that
compensation earned under the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan qualifies as performance-based compensation under Section 162(m) of
the Code. In addition, except with respect to certain corporation transactions and changes in capitalization, in no event may the Compensation
Committee exercise its discretion to reduce the exercise price of outstanding stock options or stock appreciation rights or effect a repricing
without shareholder approval.

Effective Date of the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan. The Board approved the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan on April 23,
2015, and the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan becomes effective on the date it is approved by our stockholders. Awards of incentive
options may be granted under the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan until April 23, 2025. No other awards may be granted under the Third
Amended and Restated 2006 Plan after the date that is 10 years from the date of the Annual Meeting.
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Federal Income Tax Information

Incentive Stock Options. Incentive stock options under the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan are intended to be eligible for the favorable
federal income tax treatment accorded �incentive stock options� under the Code.

There generally are no federal income tax consequences to the participant or the Company by reason of the grant or exercise of an incentive
stock option. However, the exercise of an incentive stock option may increase the participant�s alternative minimum tax liability, if any.

If a participant holds stock acquired through exercise of an incentive stock option for more than two years from the date on which the option is
granted and more than one year from the date on which the shares are transferred to the participant upon exercise of the option, any gain or loss
on a disposition of such stock will be a long-term capital gain or loss if the participant held the stock for more than one year.

Generally, if the participant disposes of the stock before the expiration of either of these holding periods (a �disqualifying disposition�), then at the
time of disposition the participant will realize taxable ordinary income equal to the lesser of (i) the excess of the stock�s fair market value on the
date of exercise over the exercise price, or (ii) the participant�s actual gain, if any, on the purchase and sale. The participant�s additional gain or
any loss upon the disqualifying disposition will be a capital gain or loss, which will be long-term or short-term depending on whether the stock
was held for more than one year.

To the extent the participant recognizes ordinary income by reason of a disqualifying disposition, the Company will generally be entitled
(subject to the requirement of reasonableness, the provisions of Section 162(m) of the Code and the satisfaction of a tax reporting obligation) to
a corresponding business expense deduction in the tax year in which the disqualifying disposition occurs.

Nonstatutory Stock Options, Restricted Stock Awards and Unrestricted Stock Awards. Nonstatutory stock options, restricted stock awards and
unrestricted stock awards granted under the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan generally have the following federal income tax
consequences.

There are no tax consequences to the participant or the Company by reason of the grant. Upon acquisition of the stock, the participant normally
will recognize taxable ordinary income equal to the excess, if any, of the stock�s fair market value on the acquisition date over the purchase price.
However, to the extent the stock is subject to certain types of vesting restrictions, the taxable event will be delayed until the vesting restrictions
lapse unless the participant elects to be taxed on receipt of the stock. With respect to employees, the Company is generally required to withhold
from regular wages or supplemental wage payments an amount based on the ordinary income recognized. Subject to the requirement of
reasonableness, the provisions of Section 162(m) of the Code and the satisfaction of a tax reporting obligation, the Company will generally be
entitled to a business expense deduction equal to the taxable ordinary income realized by the participant.

Upon disposition of the stock, the participant will recognize a capital gain or loss equal to the difference between the selling price and the sum of
the amount paid for such stock plus any amount recognized as ordinary income upon acquisition (or vesting) of the stock. Such gain or loss will
be long-term or short-term depending on whether the stock was held for more than one year. Slightly different rules may apply to participants
who acquire stock subject to certain repurchase options or who are subject to Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act.

Stock Appreciation Rights. No taxable income is realized upon the receipt of a stock appreciation right, but upon exercise of the stock
appreciation right the fair market value of the shares (or cash in lieu of shares) received must be treated as compensation taxable as ordinary
income to the participant in the year of such exercise. Generally, with respect to employees, the Company is required to withhold from the
payment made on exercise of the stock appreciation right or from regular wages or supplemental wage payments an amount based on the
ordinary income recognized. Subject to the requirement of reasonableness, Section 162(m) of the Code and the satisfaction of a reporting
obligation, the Company will be entitled to a business expense deduction equal to the taxable ordinary income recognized by the participant.
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Potential Limitation on Company Deductions. Section 162(m) of the Code denies a deduction to any publicly held corporation for compensation
paid to certain �covered employees� in a taxable year to the extent that compensation to such covered employee exceeds $1,000,000. It is possible
that compensation attributable to awards, when combined with all other types of compensation received by a covered employee from the
Company, may cause this limitation to be exceeded in any particular year. However, certain kinds of compensation, including qualified
�performance-based compensation,� are disregarded for purposes of the deduction limitation.

Below is a summary of the material conditions under which certain equity awards qualify as performance-based compensation that is exempt
from the $1,000,000 deduction limitation in accordance with Section 162(m) of the Code:

� Stock Options and Stock Appreciation Rights. Compensation paid to covered employees that is attributable to stock options and
stock appreciation rights may qualify as performance-based compensation if (i) such awards are granted by a compensation
committee or committee of our Board comprised solely of �outside directors,� (ii) the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan contains
a per-employee limitation on the number of shares for which such awards may be granted during a specified period, (iii) the
per-employee limitation is approved by our stockholders, and (iv) the exercise or strike price of the award is no less than the fair
market value of the stock on the date of grant.

� Restricted Stock Awards, Restricted Stock Unit Awards, Performance Stock Awards and Performance Cash Awards. Compensation
paid to covered employees that is attributable to restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit awards, performance equity awards, and
performance cash awards may qualify as performance-based compensation, provided that: (i) the award is granted by a compensation
committee comprised solely of �outside directors,� (ii) the award is granted (or vests) only upon the achievement of an objective
performance goal established in writing by the compensation committee while the outcome is substantially uncertain, (iii) the
compensation committee certifies in writing prior to the grant or vesting of the award that the performance goal has been satisfied,
and (iv) stockholders have approved the material terms of the award (including the class of employees eligible for such award, the
business criteria on which the performance goal is based, and the maximum amount, or formula used to calculate the amount,
payable upon attainment of the performance goal).
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New Plan Benefits

Awards under the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan to employees and consultants are discretionary and are not subject to set benefits or
amounts, and we have not approved any awards to employees and consultants that are conditioned on stockholder approval of the Third
Amended and Restated 2006 Plan. While awards under the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan to directors are discretionary, our
non-employee director compensation policy establishes the number of shares subject to initial and annual stock option awards that automatically
will be granted to our non-employee directors under the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Plan. Pursuant to such policy, each non-employee
director receives an option to purchase 7,500 shares of our common stock at the first Board meeting following each annual meeting of our
stockholders, provided that he or she has served as a director for at least six months. For additional information regarding our non-employee
director compensation policy, see �2014 Director Compensation� above. On April 1, 2015, the last reported sales price of our common stock on
the NASDAQ was $8.27.

Number of Shares Underlying
Stock Options Granted (#)

George W. LeMaitre 0
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Joseph P. Pellegrino, Jr. 0
Chief Financial Officer
David B. Roberts 0
President
Peter R. Gebauer 0
President, International Operations
Robert V. Linden(1) 0
Senior Vice President Sales, The Americas
All Current Executive Officers as a Group 0
All Current Directors Who are Not Executive Officers as a Group(2) 30,000
All Non-Executive Officer Employees as a Group 0

(1) Mr. Linden left the Company on April 3, 2015.
(2) Four directors fall into this category.
Recommendation of the Board

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE

�FOR� THE APPROVAL OF THE THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED 2006 STOCK OPTION AND

INCENTIVE PLAN.
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PROPOSAL 3

RATIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors has selected the firm of Grant Thornton LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm,
to serve as our independent certified public accountants for the year ending December 31, 2015. As a matter of good corporate governance, the
Audit Committee has determined to submit its selection to stockholders for ratification. If the selection of Grant Thornton LLP is ratified, the
Audit Committee may, in its discretion, select a different independent registered public accounting firm at any time during the year if it
determines that such a change would be in our best interests and in the best interests of our stockholders.

Recommendation of the Board

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE

�FOR� THE RATIFICATION OF GRANT THORNTON LLP AS OUR

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM FOR 2015.
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STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS

Proposals of stockholders intended for inclusion in the Proxy Statement to be furnished to all stockholders entitled to vote at our 2016 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders, pursuant to Rule 14a-8 promulgated under the Exchange Act by the SEC, must be received at our principal executive
offices not later than December 19, 2015. Any such proposal must comply with the rules and regulations of the SEC.

Our Amended and Restated By-Laws establish an advance notice procedure with regard to proposals that stockholders otherwise desire to
introduce at the annual meeting without inclusion in our proxy statement for that meeting. Written notice of such stockholder proposals for our
2016 Annual Meeting�other than one that will be included in our Proxy Statement�must be received by our Secretary at our principal executive
offices between February 5, 2016, and March 6, 2016, in order to be considered timely, unless our 2016 annual meeting of stockholders is
scheduled to take place before May 5, 2016, or after August 3, 2016. Our Amended and Restated By-Laws state that the stockholder must
provide timely written notice of such nomination or proposal as well as be present at such meeting, either in person or by a representative. A
stockholders� notice shall be timely received by us at our principal executive office not less than 90 days nor more than 120 days prior to the
anniversary date of the immediately preceding annual meeting (the �Anniversary Date�); provided, however, that in the event the annual meeting
is scheduled to be held on a date more than 30 days before the Anniversary Date or more than 60 days after the Anniversary Date, a stockholder�s
notice shall be timely if received by us at our principal executive office not later than the close of business on the later of (a) the 90th day prior
to the scheduled date of such annual meeting or (b) the 10th day following the day on which public announcement of the date of such annual
meeting is first made by us. Any such proposal should be mailed to us at our principal executive offices, Attention: Secretary. Any proposal to
be considered for inclusion at the annual meeting must contain specified information concerning the matters proposed to be brought before such
meeting and concerning the stockholder proposing such action, and further must be proper matters for stockholder action.

INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE

The section of this proxy statement entitled �Audit Committee Report� does not constitute soliciting material and should not be deemed filed or
incorporated by reference into any other filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, except to the extent we
specifically incorporate it by reference therein.

HOUSEHOLDING OF PROXY MATERIALS

The SEC has adopted rules that permit companies and intermediaries (e.g., brokers) to satisfy the delivery requirements for proxy statements and
annual reports with respect to two or more stockholders sharing the same address by delivering a single proxy statement addressed to those
stockholders. This process, which is commonly referred to as �householding,� potentially means extra convenience for stockholders and cost
savings for companies.

This year, a number of brokers with account holders who are LeMaitre stockholders will be �householding� our proxy materials. A single proxy
statement will be delivered to multiple stockholders sharing an address unless contrary instructions have been received from the affected
stockholders. Once you have received notice from your broker that they will be �householding� communications to your address, �householding�
will continue until you are notified otherwise or until you revoke your consent. Stockholders who currently receive multiple copies of the proxy
statement at their addresses and would like to request �householding� of their communications should contact their brokers. If, at any time, you no
longer wish to participate in �householding� and would prefer to receive a separate proxy statement and annual report, please notify your broker.
You may also direct your written request to LeMaitre Vascular, Inc., Corporate Secretary, 63 Second Avenue, Burlington, Massachusetts 01803
or contact the Corporate Secretary at (781) 221-2266.
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OTHER MATTERS

The Board of Directors knows of no other matters to be brought before the Meeting. If any other matters are properly brought before the
Meeting, the persons appointed in the accompanying proxy intend to vote the shares represented thereby in accordance with their best judgment
on such matters, under applicable laws.

By Order of the Board of Directors

Joseph P. Pellegrino

Chief Financial Officer and Secretary

April 24, 2015

A COPY OF OUR ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014, AS FILED WITH THE SEC, IS BEING FURNISHED TO

STOCKHOLDERS CONCURRENTLY HEREWITH. A STOCKHOLDER MAY SUBMIT A WRITTEN REQUEST FOR AN ADDITIONAL COPY OF THE ANNUAL REPORT ON

FORM 10-K FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014 TO: SECRETARY, 63 SECOND AVENUE, BURLINGTON, MA 01803.

NOTE 1 OF THE NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, INCLUDED IN OUR ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K FILED ON MARCH 18, 2015, IS
INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE INTO THIS PROXY STATEMENT.
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Appendix A

LEMAITRE VASCULAR, INC.

THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED

2006 STOCK OPTION AND INCENTIVE PLAN

SECTION1.    GENERAL PURPOSE OF THE PLAN; DEFINITIONS
The name of the plan is the LeMaitre Vascular, Inc. Third Amended and Restated 2006 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the �Plan�), which is the
amendment and restatement of the Second Amended and Restated 2006 Stock Option and Incentive Plan. The purpose of the Plan is to
encourage and enable the officers, employees, directors and other key persons (including Consultants and prospective employees) of LeMaitre
Vascular, Inc. (the �Company�) and its Subsidiaries upon whose judgment, initiative and efforts the Company largely depends for the successful
conduct of its business to acquire a proprietary interest in the Company. It is anticipated that providing such persons with a direct stake in the
Company�s welfare will assure a closer identification of their interests with those of the Company and its stockholders, thereby stimulating their
efforts on the Company�s behalf and strengthening their desire to remain with the Company.

The following terms shall be defined as set forth below:

�Act� means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations thereunder.

�Administrator� is defined in Section 2(a).

�Award� or �Awards,� except where referring to a particular category of grant under the Plan, shall include Incentive Stock Options,
Non-Qualified Stock Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock Units, Restricted Stock Awards, Unrestricted Stock Awards and
Cash-Based Awards.

�Award Certificate� means a written or electronic document setting forth the terms and provisions applicable to an Award granted under the
Plan. Each Award Certificate is subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan.

�Board� means the Board of Directors of the Company.

�Cash-Based Award� means an Award entitling the recipient to receive a cash-denominated payment.

�Code� means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any successor Code, and related rules, regulations and interpretations.

�Consultant� means any natural person that provides bona fide services to the Company, and such services are not in connection with the offer
or sale of securities in a capital-raising transaction and do not directly or indirectly promote or maintain a market for the Company�s securities.

�Committee� means a committee of the Board.

�Covered Employee� means an employee who is a �Covered Employee� within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code.

�Exchange Act� means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations thereunder.

�Fair Market Value� of the Stock on any given date means the fair market value of the Stock determined in good faith by the Administrator;
provided, however, that if the Stock is admitted to quotation on the National
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Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotation System (�NASDAQ�), NASDAQ Global Market or another national securities exchange,
the determination shall be made by reference to market quotations. If there are no market quotations for such date, the determination shall be
made by reference to the last date preceding such date for which there are market quotations.

�Incentive Stock Option� means any Stock Option designated and qualified as an �incentive stock option� as defined in Section 422 of the Code.

�Non-Qualified Stock Option� means any Stock Option that is not an Incentive Stock Option.

�Option� or �Stock Option� means any option to purchase shares of Stock granted pursuant to Section 5.

�Original 2006 Stock Option and Incentive Plan� means the LeMaitre Vascular, Inc. 2006 Stock Option and Incentive Plan which was adopted by
the Board and approved by the Company�s stockholders on May 25, 2006.

�Performance Cycle� means one or more periods of time, which may be of varying and overlapping durations, as the Administrator may select,
over which the attainment of one or more performance criteria will be measured for the purpose of determining a grantee�s right to and the
payment of a Restricted Stock Award, Restricted Stock Units or Cash-Based Award.

�Restatement Date� means the date on which the Plan is approved by stockholders as set forth in Section 19.

�Restricted Stock� means Stock subject to such restrictions and conditions as the Administrator may determine at the time of grant.

�Restricted Stock Award� means an Award entitling the recipient to acquire shares of Stock subject to such restrictions and conditions as the
Administrator may determine at the time of grant.

�Restricted Stock Units� means an Award of phantom stock units to a grantee.

�Section 409A� means Section 409A of the Code and the regulations and other guidance promulgated thereunder.

�Stock� means the Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share, of the Company, subject to adjustments pursuant to Section 3.

�Stock Appreciation Right� means an Award entitling the recipient to receive shares of Stock having a value equal to the excess of the Fair
Market Value of the Stock on the date of exercise over the exercise price of the Stock Appreciation Right (except as otherwise provided for in
Section 6).

�Subsidiary� means any corporation or other entity (other than the Company) in which the Company has at least a 50 percent interest, either
directly or indirectly.

�Ten Percent Owner� means an employee who owns or is deemed to own (by reason of the attribution rules of Section 424(d) of the Code)
more than 10 percent of the combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or any parent or subsidiary corporation.

�Unrestricted Stock� is defined in Section 9.

�Unrestricted Stock Award� means any Award pursuant to which a grantee may receive shares of Stock free of any restrictions.
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SECTION 2. ADMINISTRATION OF PLAN; ADMINISTRATOR AUTHORITY TO SELECT GRANTEES AND DETERMINE AWARDS
(a) Committee. The Plan shall be administered by either the Board or one or more Committees of the Board (the �Administrator�).

(b) Powers of Administrator. The Administrator shall have the power and authority to grant Awards consistent with the terms of the Plan,
including the power and authority:

(i) to select the individuals to whom Awards may from time to time be granted;

(ii) to determine the time or times of grant, and the extent, if any, of Incentive Stock Options, Non-Qualified Stock Options, Stock Appreciation
Rights, Restricted Stock Units, Restricted Stock Awards, Unrestricted Stock Awards and Cash-Based Awards, or any combination of the
foregoing, granted to any one or more grantees;

(iii) to determine the number of shares of Stock to be covered by any Award;

(iv) to determine and modify from time to time the terms and conditions, including restrictions, not inconsistent with the terms of the Plan, of
any Award, which terms and conditions may differ among individual Awards and grantees, and to approve the forms of Award Certificates;

(v) to accelerate at any time the exercisability or vesting of all or any portion of any Award;

(vi) subject to the provisions of Section 5(a)(ii), to extend at any time the period in which Stock Options may be exercised; and

(vii) at any time to adopt, alter and repeal such rules, guidelines and practices for administration of the Plan and for its own acts and proceedings
as it shall deem advisable; to interpret the terms and provisions of the Plan and any Award (including related written instruments); to make all
determinations it deems advisable for the administration of the Plan; to decide all disputes arising in connection with the Plan; and to otherwise
supervise the administration of the Plan.

All decisions and interpretations of the Administrator shall be binding on all persons, including the Company and Plan grantees.

(c) Foreign Participants. Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, in order to comply with the laws in other countries in which
the Company and its Subsidiaries operate or have employees or other individuals eligible for Awards, the Committee, in its sole discretion, shall
have the power and authority to: (i) determine which Subsidiaries shall be covered by the Plan; (ii) determine which individuals outside the
United States are eligible to participate in the Plan; (iii) modify the terms and conditions of any Award granted to individuals outside the United
States to comply with applicable foreign laws; (iv) establish subplans and modify exercise procedures and other terms and procedures, to the
extent the Committee determines such actions to be necessary or advisable (and such subplans and/or modifications shall be attached to this Plan
as appendices); provided, however, that no such subplans and/or modifications shall increase the share limitations contained in Section 3(a) of
the Plan; and (v) take any action, before or after an Award is made, that the Committee determines to be necessary or advisable to obtain
approval or comply with any local governmental regulatory exemptions or approvals. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee may not
take any actions hereunder, and no Awards shall be granted, that would violate the Exchange Act or any other applicable United States securities
law, the Code, or any other applicable United States governing statute or law.

(d) Delegation of Authority to Grant Awards. The Administrator, in its discretion, may delegate to an officer (including the chief executive
officer) of the Company all or part of the Administrator�s authority and duties with respect to the granting of Awards to individuals who are not
subject to the reporting and other provisions of Section 16 of the Exchange Act and not Covered Employees. Any such delegation by the
Administrator shall include a limitation as to the amount of Awards that may be granted during the period of the delegation and shall
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contain guidelines as to the determination of the exercise price of any Stock Option or Stock Appreciation Right, the conversion ratio or price of
other Awards and the vesting criteria. The Administrator may revoke or amend the terms of a delegation at any time but such action shall not
invalidate any prior actions of the Administrator�s delegate or delegates that were consistent with the terms of the Plan.

(e) Award Certificate. Awards under the Plan shall be evidenced by Award Certificates that set forth the terms, conditions and limitations for
each Award which may include, without limitation, the term of an Award and the provisions applicable in the event employment or service
terminates.

(f) Indemnification. Neither the Board nor the Committee, nor any member of either or any delegate thereof, shall be liable for any act, omission,
interpretation, construction or determination made in good faith in connection with the Plan, and the members of the Board and the Committee
(and any delegate thereof) shall be entitled in all cases to indemnification and reimbursement by the Company in respect of any claim, loss,
damage or expense (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys� fees) arising or resulting therefrom to the fullest extent permitted by law
and/or under any directors� and officers� liability insurance coverage which may be in effect from time to time and/or any indemnification
agreement between such individual and the Company.

SECTION3.    STOCK ISSUABLE UNDER THE PLAN; MERGERS; SUBSTITUTION
(a) Stock Issuable. The maximum number of shares of Stock reserved and available for issuance under the Plan shall be the sum of (i) 5,500,000
shares, and (ii) such number of shares as equals that number of stock options or awards returned to (A) the Company�s 1997 Stock Option Plan,
as amended and in effect from time to time, following the effective date of the Original 2006 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, (B) the
Company�s 1998 Stock Option Plan, as amended and in effect from time to time, following the effective date of the Original 2006 Stock Option
and Incentive Plan, (C) the Company�s 2000 Stock Option Plan, as amended and in effect from time to time, following the effective date of the
Original 2006 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, and (D) the Company�s 2004 Stock Option Plan, as amended and in effect from time to time,
following the effective date of the Original 2006 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, in each case as a result of the expiration, cancellation or
termination of such stock options or awards, subject to adjustment as provided in Section 3(b). For purposes of this limitation, the shares of
Stock underlying any Awards that are forfeited, canceled, held back upon exercise of an Option or settlement of an Award to cover the exercise
price or tax withholding, reacquired by the Company prior to vesting, satisfied without the issuance of Stock or otherwise terminated (other than
by exercise) shall be added back to the shares of Stock available for issuance under the Plan. Subject to such overall limitations, shares of Stock
may be issued up to such maximum number pursuant to any type or types of Award; provided, however, that Stock Options or Stock
Appreciation Rights with respect to no more than 3,000,000 shares of Stock may be granted to any one individual grantee during any one
calendar year period. In no event may shares of Stock granted in the form of Incentive Stock Options exceed 5,500,000 shares. The shares
available for issuance under the Plan may be authorized but unissued shares of Stock or shares of Stock reacquired by the Company.

(b) Changes in Stock. Subject to Section 3(c) hereof, if, as a result of any reorganization, recapitalization, reclassification, stock dividend, stock
split, reverse stock split or other similar change in the Company�s capital stock, the outstanding shares of Stock are increased or decreased or are
exchanged for a different number or kind of shares or other securities of the Company, or additional shares or new or different shares or other
securities of the Company or other non-cash assets are distributed with respect to such shares of Stock or other securities, or, if, as a result of any
merger or consolidation, sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company, the outstanding shares of Stock are converted into or
exchanged for securities of the Company or any successor entity (or a parent or subsidiary thereof), the Administrator shall make an appropriate
or proportionate adjustment in (i) the maximum number of shares reserved for issuance under the Plan, including the maximum number of
shares that may be issued in the form of Incentive Stock Options, (ii) the number of Stock Options or Stock Appreciation Rights that can be
granted to any one individual grantee and the maximum number of shares that may be granted under a Performance-based Award, (iii) the
number and kind of shares or other securities subject to any then outstanding Awards under the Plan, (iv) the repurchase price, if any, per share
subject to each
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outstanding Restricted Stock Award, and (v) the exercise price for each share subject to any then outstanding Stock Options and Stock
Appreciation Rights under the Plan, without changing the aggregate exercise price (i.e., the exercise price multiplied by the number of Stock
Options and Stock Appreciation Rights) as to which such Stock Options and Stock Appreciation Rights remain exercisable. The Administrator
shall also make equitable or proportionate adjustments in the number of shares subject to outstanding Awards and the exercise price and the
terms of outstanding Awards to take into consideration cash dividends paid other than in the ordinary course or any other extraordinary
corporate event. The adjustment by the Administrator shall be final, binding and conclusive. No fractional shares of Stock shall be issued under
the Plan resulting from any such adjustment, but the Administrator in its discretion may make a cash payment in lieu of fractional shares.

(c) Consolidations, Mergers or Sales of Assets or Stock. If the Company is to be consolidated with or acquired by another person or entity in a
merger, sale of all or substantially all of the Company�s assets or stock or otherwise (an �Acquisition�), the Committee or the board of directors of
any entity assuming the obligations of the Company hereunder (the �Successor Board�) shall, with respect to outstanding Awards or shares
acquired upon exercise of any Award, take one or more of the following actions: (i) make appropriate provision for the continuation of such
Award by substituting on an equitable basis for the shares then subject to such Award the consideration payable with respect to the outstanding
shares of Common Stock in connection with the Acquisition; (ii) accelerate the date of exercise of such Award or of any installment of any such
Award; (iii) upon written notice to the optionees, provide that all Awards must be exercised, to the extent then exercisable, within a specified
number of days of the date of such notice, at the end of which period the Award shall terminate; (iv) terminate all Awards in exchange for a cash
payment equal to the excess of the fair market value of the shares subject to such Award (to the extent then exercisable) over the exercise price
thereof; or (v) in the event of a stock sale, require that the optionee sell to the purchaser to whom such stock sale is to be made, all shares
previously issued to such optionee upon exercise of any Award, at a price equal to the portion of the net consideration from such sale which is
attributable to such shares.

(d) Substitute Awards. The Administrator may grant Awards under the Plan in substitution for stock and stock based awards held by employees,
directors or other key persons of another corporation in connection with the merger or consolidation of the employing corporation or affiliate
thereof with the Company or a Subsidiary or the acquisition by the Company or a Subsidiary of property or stock of the employing corporation
or affiliate thereof. The Administrator may direct that the substitute awards be granted on such terms and conditions as the Administrator
considers appropriate in the circumstances. Any substitute Awards granted under the Plan shall not count against the share limitation set forth in
Section 3(a).

SECTION4.    ELIGIBILITY
Grantees under the Plan will be such full or part-time officers and other employees, directors and key persons (including Consultants and
prospective employees) of the Company and its Subsidiaries as are selected from time to time by the Administrator in its sole discretion.

SECTION5.    STOCK OPTIONS
Any Stock Option granted under the Plan shall be in such form as the Administrator may from time to time approve.

Stock Options granted under the Plan may be either Incentive Stock Options or Non-Qualified Stock Options. Incentive Stock Options may be
granted only to employees of the Company or any Subsidiary that is a �subsidiary corporation� within the meaning of Section 424(f) of the Code.
To the extent that any Option does not qualify as an Incentive Stock Option, it shall be deemed a Non-Qualified Stock Option.

(a) Grants of Stock Options. Stock Options granted pursuant to this Section 5(a) shall be subject to the following terms and conditions and shall
contain such additional terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the
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terms of the Plan, as the Administrator shall deem desirable. If the Administrator so determines, Stock Options may be granted in lieu of cash
compensation at the optionee�s election, subject to such terms and conditions as the Administrator may establish.

(i) Exercise Price. The exercise price per share for the Stock covered by a Stock Option granted pursuant to this Section 5(a) shall be determined
by the Administrator at the time of grant but shall not be less than one hundred percent (100%) of the Fair Market Value on the date of grant. In
the case of an Incentive Stock Option that is granted to a Ten Percent Owner, the option price of such Incentive Stock Option shall be not less
than one hundred ten (110%) percent of the Fair Market Value on the grant date.

(ii) Option Term. The term of each Stock Option shall be fixed by the Administrator, but no Stock Option shall be exercisable more than ten
years after the date the Stock Option is granted. In the case of an Incentive Stock Option that is granted to a Ten Percent Owner, the term of such
Stock Option shall be no more than five years from the date of grant.

(iii) Exercisability; Rights of a Stockholder. Stock Options shall become exercisable at such time or times, whether or not in installments, as
shall be determined by the Administrator at or after the grant date. The Administrator may at any time accelerate the exercisability of all or any
portion of any Stock Option. An optionee shall have the rights of a stockholder only as to shares acquired upon the exercise of a Stock Option
and not as to unexercised Stock Options.

(iv) Method of Exercise. Stock Options may be exercised in whole or in part, by giving written notice of exercise to the Company, specifying the
number of shares to be purchased. Payment of the purchase price may be made by one or more of the following methods to the extent provided
in the Option Award Certificate:

(A) In cash, by certified or bank check or other instrument acceptable to the Administrator;

(B) Through the delivery (or attestation to the ownership) of shares of Stock that have been purchased by the optionee on the open market or that
are beneficially owned by the optionee and are not then subject to restrictions under any Company plan. Such surrendered shares shall be valued
at Fair Market Value on the exercise date. To the extent required to avoid variable accounting treatment under FAS 123R or other applicable
accounting rules, such surrendered shares shall have been owned by the optionee for at least six months; or

(C) By the optionee delivering to the Company a properly executed exercise notice together with irrevocable instructions to a broker to promptly
deliver to the Company cash or a check payable and acceptable to the Company for the purchase price; provided that in the event the optionee
chooses to pay the purchase price as so provided, the optionee and the broker shall comply with such procedures and enter into such agreements
of indemnity and other agreements as the Administrator shall prescribe as a condition of such payment procedure.

(D) With respect to Stock Options that are not Incentive Stock Options, by a �net exercise� arrangement pursuant to which the Company will
reduce the number of shares of Stock issuable upon exercise by the largest whole number of shares with a Fair Market Value that does not
exceed the aggregate exercise price.

Payment instruments will be received subject to collection. The transfer to the optionee on the records of the Company or of the transfer agent of
the shares of Stock to be purchased pursuant to the exercise of a Stock Option will be contingent upon receipt from the optionee (or a purchaser
acting in his stead in accordance with the provisions of the Stock Option) by the Company of the full purchase price for such shares and the
fulfillment of any other requirements contained in the Option Award Certificate or applicable provisions of laws (including the satisfaction of
any withholding taxes that the Company is obligated to withhold with respect to the optionee). In the event an optionee chooses to pay the
purchase price by previously-owned shares of Stock through the attestation method, the number of shares of Stock transferred to the optionee
upon the exercise of the Stock Option shall be net of the number of shares attested to.
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(v) Annual Limit on Incentive Stock Options. To the extent required for �incentive stock option� treatment under Section 422 of the Code, the
aggregate Fair Market Value (determined as of the time of grant) of the shares of Stock with respect to which Incentive Stock Options granted
under this Plan and any other plan of the Company or its parent and subsidiary corporations become exercisable for the first time by an optionee
during any calendar year shall not exceed $100,000. To the extent that any Stock Option exceeds this limit, it shall constitute a Non-Qualified
Stock Option.

SECTION6.    STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS
(a) Grant and Exercise of Stock Appreciation Rights. Stock Appreciation Rights may be granted by the Administrator independently of any
Stock Option granted pursuant to Section 5 of the Plan.

(b) Terms and Conditions of Stock Appreciation Rights. Stock Appreciation Rights shall be subject to such terms and conditions as shall be
determined from time to time by the Administrator. The term of a Stock Appreciation Right may not exceed 10 years.

SECTION7.    RESTRICTED STOCK AWARDS
(a) Purchase Price; Terms. Shares of Restricted Stock shall be issued under the Plan at such purchase price (which may be zero) as determined
by the Administrator. The grant of a Restricted Stock Award is contingent on the grantee executing the Restricted Stock agreement. The terms
and conditions of each such Award Certificate shall be determined by the Administrator, and such terms and conditions may differ among
individual Awards and grantees. Conditions may be based on continuing employment (or other service relationship) and/or achievement of
pre-established performance goals and objectives.

(b) Rights as a Stockholder. Upon execution of a written instrument setting forth the Restricted Stock Award and payment of any applicable
purchase price, a grantee shall have the rights of a stockholder with respect to the voting of the Restricted Stock, subject to such conditions
contained in the Restricted Stock Award Certificate. Unless the Administrator shall otherwise determine, (i) uncertificated Restricted Stock shall
be accompanied by a notation on the records of the Company or the transfer agent to the effect that they are subject to forfeiture until such
Restricted Stock are vested as provided in Section 7(d) below, and (ii) certificated Restricted Stock shall remain in the possession of the
Company until such Restricted Stock is vested as provided in Section 7(d) below, and the grantee shall be required, as a condition of the grant, to
deliver to the Company such instruments of transfer as the Administrator may prescribe.

(c) Restrictions. Restricted Stock may not be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged or otherwise encumbered or disposed of except as specifically
provided herein or in the Restricted Stock Award Certificate. Except as may otherwise be provided by the Administrator either in the Award
Certificate or, subject to Section 16 below, in writing after the Award is issued, if any, if a grantee�s employment (or other service relationship)
with the Company and its Subsidiaries terminates for any reason, any Restricted Stock that has not vested at the time of termination shall
automatically and without any requirement of notice to such grantee from or other action by or on behalf of, the Company be deemed to have
been reacquired by the Company at its original purchase price from such grantee or such grantee�s legal representative simultaneously with such
termination of employment (or other service relationship), and thereafter shall cease to represent any ownership of the Company by the grantee
or rights of the grantee as a stockholder. Following such deemed reacquisition of unvested Restricted Stock that are represented by physical
certificates, a grantee shall surrender such certificates to the Company upon request without consideration.

(d) Vesting of Restricted Stock. The Administrator at the time of grant shall specify the date or dates and/or the attainment of pre-established
performance goals, objectives and other conditions on which the non-transferability of the Restricted Stock and the Company�s right of
repurchase or forfeiture shall lapse. Subsequent to such date or dates and/or the attainment of such pre-established performance goals, objectives
and other conditions, the shares on which all restrictions have lapsed shall no longer be Restricted Stock and shall be
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deemed �vested.� Except as may otherwise be provided by the Administrator either in the Award Certificate or, subject to Section 16 below, in
writing after the Award is issued, a grantee�s rights in any shares of Restricted Stock that have not vested shall automatically terminate upon the
grantee�s termination of employment (or other service relationship) with the Company and its Subsidiaries and such shares shall be subject to the
provisions of Section 7(c) above.

SECTION8.    RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS
(a) Nature of Restricted Stock Units. The Administrator shall determine the restrictions and conditions applicable to each Restricted Stock Unit
at the time of grant. Conditions may be based on continuing employment (or other service relationship) and/or achievement of pre-established
performance goals and objectives. The terms and conditions of each such Award Certificate shall be determined by the Administrator, and such
terms and conditions may differ among individual Awards and grantees. At the end of the deferral period, the Restricted Stock Units, to the
extent vested, shall be settled in the form of shares of Stock. To the extent that an award of Restricted Stock Units is subject to Section 409A, it
may contain such additional terms and conditions as the Administrator shall determine in its sole discretion in order for such Award to comply
with the requirements of Section 409A.

(b) Election to Receive Restricted Stock Units in Lieu of Compensation. The Administrator may, in its sole discretion, permit a grantee to elect to
receive a portion of future cash compensation otherwise due to such grantee in the form of an award of Restricted Stock Units. Any such
election shall be made in writing and shall be delivered to the Company no later than the date specified by the Administrator and in accordance
with Section 409A and such other rules and procedures established by the Administrator. Any such future cash compensation that the grantee
elects to defer shall be converted to a fixed number of Restricted Stock Units based on the Fair Market Value of Stock on the date the
compensation would otherwise have been paid to the grantee if such payment had not been deferred as provided herein. The Administrator shall
have the sole right to determine whether and under what circumstances to permit such elections and to impose such limitations and other terms
and conditions thereon as the Administrator deems appropriate. Any Restricted Stock Units that are elected to be received in lieu of cash
compensation shall be fully vested, unless otherwise provided in the Award Certificate.

(c) Rights as a Stockholder. A grantee shall have the rights as a stockholder only as to shares of Stock acquired by the grantee upon settlement of
Restricted Stock Units.

(d) Termination. Except as may otherwise be provided by the Administrator either in the Award Certificate or, subject to Section 16 below, in
writing after the Award is issued, a grantee�s right in all Restricted Stock Units that have not vested shall automatically terminate upon the
grantee�s termination of employment (or cessation of service relationship) with the Company and its Subsidiaries for any reason.

SECTION9.    UNRESTRICTED STOCK AWARDS
Grant or Sale of Unrestricted Stock. The Administrator may, in its sole discretion, grant (or sell at par value or such higher purchase price
determined by the Administrator) an Unrestricted Stock Award to any grantee pursuant to which such grantee may receive shares of Stock free
of any restrictions (�Unrestricted Stock�) under the Plan. Unrestricted Stock Awards may be granted in respect of past services or other valid
consideration, or in lieu of cash compensation due to such grantee.

SECTION10.    CASH-BASED AWARDS
The Administrator may, in its sole discretion, grant Cash-Based Awards to any grantee in such number or amount and upon such terms, and
subject to such conditions, as the Administrator shall determine at the time of grant. The Administrator shall determine the maximum duration of
the Cash-Based Award, the amount of cash to which the Cash-Based Award pertains, the conditions upon which the Cash-Based Award shall
become vested or
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payable, and such other provisions as the Administrator shall determine. Each Cash-Based Award shall specify a cash-denominated payment
amount, formula or payment ranges as determined by the Administrator. Payment, if any, with respect to a Cash-Based Award shall be made in
accordance with the terms of the Award and may be made in cash or in shares of Stock, as the Administrator determines.

SECTION11.    PERFORMANCE-BASED AWARDS TO COVERED EMPLOYEES
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, if any Restricted Stock Award, Restricted Stock Units or Cash-Based Award granted
to a Covered Employee is intended to qualify as �Performance-based Compensation� under Section 162(m) of the Code and the regulations
promulgated thereunder (a �Performance-based Award�), such Award shall comply with the provisions set forth below:

(a) Performance Criteria. The performance criteria used in performance goals governing Performance-based Awards granted to Covered
Employees may include any or all of the following: (i) the Company�s return on equity, assets, capital or investment: (ii) pre-tax or after-tax
profit levels of the Company or any Subsidiary, a division, an operating unit or a business segment of the Company, or any combination of the
foregoing; (iii) net sales, gross margin, operating income, cash flow, funds from operations or similar measures; (iv) total stockholder return;
(v) changes in the market price of the Stock; (vi) sales or market share; (vii) earnings per share, (viii) status of clinical studies and other
regulatory approvals and milestones, (ix) manufacturing developments and/or progress, (x) achievement of sales milestones, and (xi) other
operational objectives of the Company.

(b) Grant of Performance-based Awards. With respect to each Performance-based Award granted to a Covered Employee, the Committee shall
select, within the first 90 days of a Performance Cycle (or, if shorter, within the maximum period allowed under Section 162(m) of the Code) the
performance criteria for such grant, and the achievement targets with respect to each performance criterion (including a threshold level of
performance below which no amount will become payable with respect to such Award). Each Performance-based Award will specify the amount
payable, or the formula for determining the amount payable, upon achievement of the various applicable performance targets. The performance
criteria established by the Committee may be (but need not be) different for each Performance Cycle and different goals may be applicable to
Performance-based Awards to different Covered Employees.

(c) Payment of Performance-based Awards. Following the completion of a Performance Cycle, the Committee shall meet to review and certify
in writing whether, and to what extent, the performance criteria for the Performance Cycle have been achieved and, if so, to also calculate and
certify in writing the amount of the Performance-based Awards earned for the Performance Cycle. The Committee shall then determine the
actual size of each Covered Employee�s Performance-based Award, and, in doing so, may reduce or eliminate the amount of the
Performance-based Award for a Covered Employee if, in its sole judgment, such reduction or elimination is appropriate.

(d) Maximum Award Payable. The maximum Performance-based Award payable to any one Covered Employee under the Plan for a
Performance Cycle is 3,000,000 Shares (subject to adjustment as provided in Section 3(b) hereof) or $2,000,000 in the case of a
Performance-based award that is a Cash-Based Award.

SECTION12.    TRANSFERABILITY OF AWARDS
(a) Transferability. Except as provided in Section 12(b) below, during a grantee�s lifetime, his or her Awards shall be exercisable only by the
grantee, or by the grantee�s legal representative or guardian in the event of the grantee�s incapacity. No Awards shall be sold, assigned, transferred
or otherwise encumbered or disposed of by a grantee other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution or a domestic relations order.
No Awards shall be subject, in whole or in part, to attachment, execution, or levy of any kind, and any purported transfer in violation hereof
shall be null and void.
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(b) Committee Action. Notwithstanding Section 12(a), the Administrator, in its discretion, may provide either in the Award Certificate regarding
a given Award or by subsequent written approval that the grantee (who is an employee or director) may transfer his or her Awards (other than
any Incentive Stock Options) to his or her immediate family members, to trusts for the benefit of such family members, or to partnerships in
which such family members are the only partners, provided that the transferee agrees in writing with the Company to be bound by all of the
terms and conditions of this Plan and the applicable Award.

(c) Family Member. For purposes of Section 12(b), �family member� shall mean a grantee�s child, stepchild, grandchild, parent, stepparent,
grandparent, spouse, former spouse, sibling, niece, nephew, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, or
sister-in-law, including adoptive relationships, any person sharing the grantee�s household (other than a tenant of the grantee), a trust in which
these persons (or the grantee) have more than 50 percent of the beneficial interest, a foundation in which these persons (or the grantee) control
the management of assets, and any other entity in which these persons (or the grantee) own more than 50 percent of the voting interests.

(d) Designation of Beneficiary. Each grantee to whom an Award has been made under the Plan may designate a beneficiary or beneficiaries to
exercise any Award or receive any payment under any Award payable on or after the grantee�s death. Any such designation shall be on a form
provided for that purpose by the Administrator and shall not be effective until received by the Administrator. If no beneficiary has been
designated by a deceased grantee, or if the designated beneficiaries have predeceased the grantee, the beneficiary shall be the grantee�s estate.

SECTION13.    TAX WITHHOLDING
(a) Payment by Grantee. Each grantee shall, no later than the date as of which the value of an Award or of any Stock or other amounts received
thereunder first becomes includable in the gross income of the grantee for Federal income tax purposes, pay to the Company, or make
arrangements satisfactory to the Administrator regarding payment of, any Federal, state, or local taxes of any kind required by law to be
withheld by the Company with respect to such income. The Company and its Subsidiaries shall, to the extent permitted by law, have the right to
deduct any such taxes from any payment of any kind otherwise due to the grantee. The Company�s obligation to deliver evidence of book entry
(or stock certificates) to any grantee is subject to and conditioned on tax withholding obligations being satisfied by the grantee.

(b) Payment in Stock. Subject to approval by the Administrator, a grantee may elect to have the Company�s minimum required tax withholding
obligation satisfied, in whole or in part, by (i) authorizing the Company to withhold from shares of Stock to be issued pursuant to any Award a
number of shares with an aggregate Fair Market Value (as of the date the withholding is effected) that would satisfy the withholding amount
due, or (ii) transferring to the Company shares of Stock owned by the grantee with an aggregate Fair Market Value (as of the date the
withholding is effected) that would satisfy the withholding amount due.

SECTION14.    SECTION 409A AWARDS.
To the extent that any Award is determined to constitute �nonqualified deferred compensation� within the meaning of Section 409A (a �409A
Award�), the Award shall be subject to such additional rules and requirements as specified by the Administrator from time to time in order to
comply with Section 409A. In this regard, if any amount under a 409A Award is payable upon a �separation from service� (within the meaning of
Section 409A) to a grantee who is then considered a �specified employee� (within the meaning of Section 409A), then no such payment shall be
made prior to the date that is the earlier of (i) six months and one day after the grantee�s separation from service, or (ii) the grantee�s death, but
only to the extent such delay is necessary to prevent such payment from being subject to interest, penalties and/or additional tax imposed
pursuant to Section 409A. Further, the settlement of any such Award may not be accelerated except to the extent permitted by Section 409A.
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SECTION15.    TRANSFER, LEAVE OF ABSENCE, ETC.
For purposes of the Plan, the following events shall not be deemed a termination of employment:

(a) a transfer to the employment of the Company from a Subsidiary or from the Company to a Subsidiary, or from one Subsidiary to another; or

(b) an approved leave of absence for military service or sickness, or for any other purpose approved by the Company, if the employee�s right to
re-employment is guaranteed either by a statute or by contract or under the policy pursuant to which the leave of absence was granted or if the
Administrator otherwise so provides in writing.

SECTION16.    AMENDMENTS AND TERMINATION
The Board may, at any time, amend or discontinue the Plan and the Administrator may, at any time, amend or cancel any outstanding Award for
the purpose of satisfying changes in law or for any other lawful purpose, but no such action shall adversely affect rights under any outstanding
Award without the holder�s consent. Except as provided in Section 3(b) or 3(c), in no event may the Administrator exercise its discretion to
reduce the exercise price of outstanding Stock Options or Stock Appreciation Rights or effect repricing through cancellation and re-grants
without shareholder approval. Any material Plan amendments (other than amendments that curtail the scope of the Plan), including any Plan
amendments that (i) increase the number of shares reserved for issuance under the Plan, (ii) expand the type of Awards available under,
materially expand the eligibility to participate in, or materially extend the term of, the Plan, or (iii) materially change the method of determining
Fair Market Value, shall be subject to approval by the Company stockholders entitled to vote at a meeting of stockholders. In addition, to the
extent determined by the Administrator to be required by the Code to ensure that Incentive Stock Options granted under the Plan are qualified
under Section 422 of the Code or to ensure that compensation earned under Awards qualifies as performance-based compensation under
Section 162(m) of the Code, Plan amendments shall be subject to approval by the Company stockholders entitled to vote at a meeting of
stockholders. Nothing in this Section 16 shall limit the Administrator�s authority to take any action permitted pursuant to Section 3(c).

SECTION17.    STATUS OF PLAN
With respect to the portion of any Award that has not been exercised and any payments in cash, Stock or other consideration not received by a
grantee, a grantee shall have no rights greater than those of a general creditor of the Company unless the Administrator shall otherwise expressly
determine in connection with any Award or Awards. In its sole discretion, the Administrator may authorize the creation of trusts or other
arrangements to meet the Company�s obligations to deliver Stock or make payments with respect to Awards hereunder, provided that the
existence of such trusts or other arrangements is consistent with the foregoing sentence.

SECTION18.    GENERAL PROVISIONS
(a) No Distribution; Compliance with Legal Requirements. The Administrator may require each person acquiring Stock pursuant to an Award to
represent to and agree with the Company in writing that such person is acquiring the shares without a view to distribution thereof.

No shares of Stock shall be issued pursuant to an Award until all applicable securities law and other legal and stock exchange or similar
requirements have been satisfied. The Administrator may require the placing of such stop-orders and restrictive legends on certificates for Stock
and Awards as it deems appropriate.

(b) Delivery of Stock Certificates. Stock certificates to grantees under this Plan shall be deemed delivered for all purposes when the Company or
a stock transfer agent of the Company shall have mailed such certificates
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in the United States mail, addressed to the grantee, at the grantee�s last known address on file with the Company. Uncertificated Stock shall be
deemed delivered for all purposes when the Company or a Stock transfer agent of the Company shall have given to the grantee by electronic
mail (with proof of receipt) or by United States mail, addressed to the grantee, at the grantee�s last known address on file with the Company,
notice of issuance and recorded the issuance in its records (which may include electronic �book entry� records).

(c) Other Compensation Arrangements; No Employment Rights. Nothing contained in this Plan shall prevent the Board from adopting other or
additional compensation arrangements, including trusts, and such arrangements may be either generally applicable or applicable only in specific
cases. The adoption of this Plan and the grant of Awards do not confer upon any employee any right to continued employment with the
Company or any Subsidiary.

(d) Trading Policy Restrictions. Option exercises and other Awards under the Plan shall be subject to such Company�s insider trading policy and
procedures, as in effect from time to time.

(e) Forfeiture of Awards under Sarbanes-Oxley Act. If the Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement due to the material
noncompliance of the Company, as a result of misconduct, with any financial reporting requirement under the securities laws, then any grantee
who is one of the individuals subject to automatic forfeiture under Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 shall reimburse the Company
for the amount of any Award received by such individual under the Plan during the 12-month period following the first public issuance or filing
with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission, as the case may be, of the financial document embodying such financial reporting
requirement.

SECTION19.    EFFECTIVE DATE OF PLAN
This Plan shall become effective upon approval by the holders of a majority of the votes cast at a meeting of stockholders at which a quorum is
present. No grants of Stock Options and other Awards may be made hereunder after                     , 2025, the tenth (10th) anniversary of the
Restatement Date, and no grants of Incentive Stock Options may be made hereunder after April 23, 2025, the tenth (10th) anniversary of the date
the Plan is approved by the Board.

SECTION20.    GOVERNING LAW
This Plan and all Awards and actions taken thereunder shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of
Delaware, applied without regard to conflict of law principles.

DATE THE PLAN WAS APPROVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS: April 23, 2015

DATE THE PLAN WAS APPROVED BY THE STOCKHOLDERS:                     , 2015
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Proxy Card

Proxy � LeMaitre Vascular, Inc.

Notice of 2015 Annual Meeting of Shareholders

Proxy Solicited by Board of Directors for Annual Meeting � June 4, 2015

George W. LeMaitre and Joseph P. Pellegrino, Jr., or any of them, each with the power of substitution, are hereby
authorized to represent and vote the shares of the undersigned, with all the powers which the undersigned would
possess if personally present, at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of LeMaitre Vascular, Inc. to be held on June 4,
2015 or at any postponement or adjournment thereof.

Shares represented by this proxy will be voted as directed by the stockholder. If no such directions are indicated, the
Proxies will have authority to vote FOR Lawrence J. Jasinski, FOR Cornelia W. LeMaitre, FOR John J. O�Connor,
FOR item 2 to approve the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Stock Option and Incentive Plan and FOR item 3 to
ratify Grant Thornton LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2015.

In their discretion, the Proxies are authorized to vote upon such other business as may properly come before the
meeting.

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Stockholder Meeting to be Held on
June 4, 2015. The proxy statement, the notice of the annual meeting, directions to the annual meeting, a sample
proxy card, and our 2014 annual report to stockholders are available at http://www.lemaitre.com/proxy.

(Items to be voted appear on reverse side.)

x

Using a black ink pen, mark your votes with an X
as shown in this example. Please do not write
outside the designated areas.
PLEASE FOLD ALONG THE PERFORATION, DETACH AND RETURN THE BOTTOM PORTION IN
THE ENCLOSED ENVELOPE.

A - Proposals � The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR all the nominees listed and FOR Proposals 2 � 3.

1. Election of Directors:

(01) Lawrence J. Jasinski FOR WITHHOLD
¨ ¨

(02) Cornelia W. LeMaitre FOR WITHHOLD
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¨ ¨

(03) John J. O�Connor FOR WITHHOLD
¨ ¨

FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN
2. To approve the Third Amended and Restated 2006 Stock Option and Incentive
Plan.

¨ ¨ ¨

FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN
3. To ratify Grant Thornton LLP as our independent registered public accounting
firm for 2015.

¨ ¨ ¨
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B - Non-Voting Items

Change of Address � Please print your new address below.

Comments � Please print your comments below.

¨
Meeting Attendance - Mark the box to the
right if you plan to attend the Annual Meeting.
C - Authorized Signatures � This section must be completed for your vote to be counted. � Date and Sign Below

Please sign exactly as name(s) appears hereon. Joint owners should each sign. When signing as attorney, executor,
administrator, corporate officer, trustee, guardian, or custodian, please give full title.

Please be sure to sign and date this proxy card in the box below.

Date (mm/dd/yyyy)                             

Signature 1 � Please keep signature within the box.                                              

Signature 2 � Please keep signature within the box.                                              
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